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COMMISSIONER:   Mr Newham.  Hallo, Mr Newham.   
MR NEWHAM:   Hallo. 
COMMISSIONER:   Welcome to the proceedings of the Commission.  Thank you very much 
for your very comprehensive report and also for making available all the other materials we 
have asked you for over – since you’ve lodged the report.  You're aware of course that the 
proceedings of the Commission are in public and that your name and testimony may be made 
public, both through the media and the report of the Commission.  Do you have any objection 
to that? 
MR NEWHAM:   No objection. 
GARETH NEWHAM:   (sworn states) 
COMMISSIONER:   Excellent.  The acoustics in here are poor and we all wear these, because 
it does improve the situation.  Ms Bawa. 
EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA: 
 Good afternoon, Mr Newham.  You provided us with a curriculum vitae.  Do you confirm 
the contents thereof as being correct? 
MR NEWHAM:   Yes, I do. 
MS BAWA:   I understand that you're going to be doing a presentation, which will deal primarily 
with your report? 
MR NEWHAM:   Yes.  Okay.  It’s – some of the key points, it’s not everything.  The submission 
is quite long.  But I'm really going to just very briefly touch on understanding policing in a 
democracy.  (Indistinct) and police performance and (indistinct) of conduct, brief comment on 
SAPS ethos and organisational culture and then some recommendations. 
 I think one of the (indistinct) Commission is that how you (indistinct) in a greater society 
is almost – well, is partly characterised by how the police are seen and how they operate.  
Because they're an organisation that has a legitimate of State force, they have power, they can 
deprive the citizens of their freedom and so it is important that they are seen to be subject to 
the rule of law.  But they are respectful (indistinct) dignity, rather than for instance acting in the 
wishes of a particular leader or a group of people, a party.   
 They can intervene in (indistinct) citizens only under limited and carefully controlled 
circumstances and they're very publicly accountable.  So that’s – that comes from a book there 
that talks about police in theory and practicing democracies.   
 And that the key objectives of the police in a democracy is to really get public trust and 
confidence on your side.  It can't be effective if the community and the public don’t trust you.  
They won't report crimes, they won't work with you and so forth.  They need to be able to stand 
outside of politics, understand the rules, the Constitution and protect democratic (indistinct) 



activities.  And when they do intervene in conflicts, they must be guided by the principle that 
everyone shall be subject to limitations as determined by law.  
 So that they seem to be treating everybody fairly and equally.  This is from the Geneva 
Centre of Control of Armed Forces.  
 In our South Africa situation, a lot of these principles and ideas are found in the 
Constitution, in our laws and policies.  And even in the South African Police Service Code of 
Conduct.   
 So every police official is expected to read this and sign it, declaring that they 
understand and adhere to it.  And it’s about committing.  (Indistinct) environment for all people 
in South Africa uphold the constitution and the law at all times, act with integrity and render an 
effective service of high standard that is accessible to everybody.   
 Uphold the fundamental rights of a person, be impartial, courteous and disrespectful 
and so forth.  To exercise the powers that are conferred upon them, in a responsible 
(indistinct) matter.  
 So we can see that these principles are in terms of our overall understanding of 
policing.  When we – now it’s back a bit, let’s just talk about police performance.  Do we know 
what we expect from the police and why.  What we really see the National Police Budget has 
really increased quite dramatically in the last 10 years or so.  So back in 2002, 2003 they 
received R20 billing and as of this year, their budget went up to R63 billing.  But that we'll get 
from the treasury, Budget Books.  So it’s an increase of over 200%.  So what we can see, is 
that the Government has taken the role of police in society very seriously and have managed 
to fund it well, (indistinct) rate has very real increases every year.  So sit can grow and you can 
get new sources if need.  
 And indeed, if you look at the recruitment trends in the South African Police Service 
over the last 10 years, there’s been 68, over 68 000 additional posts, created in the South 
African Police service.  So there was a total number of 132 310 people in the South African 
Police Service in 2002/2003 and that’s grown as of 2011 to 2012 to a 199 000 and dropped 
slightly to R197 946.  So you can see that those resources have been to primarily increase the 
number of people and I think around 70% of the police budget is on personnel.  The rest goes 
to equipment and resources.   
 And you can then see that the police have been making use of these additional 
resources.  So those are the trend of the last 10 years, in terms of the number of people 
searched.  So that red line at the top there, shows the number of people being (indistinct), and 
he could see a phenomenal growth from 2007, 2008 where almost 10 million people were 
searched in that year to the current levels around 20 million people being search by the South 
African Police Service every year.  
 The blue line there it shows the number of vehicles being searched.  And again you can 
see, not the same kind of trade, but certainly (indistinct)’s big increase and the  number of 
vehicles patrolled, it also shows over the last four years, we've been big increases.  And that’s 
because there are more police officials, there are more cars out there, doing a lot more work.  
So clearly that budget he is going to use.   

But what’s interesting is that, well, the first thing is that the consequence of all this patrol 
searches have lead to quite dramatic increases in numbers of arrest.  So the top blue line 
there shows the  arrest rate trend going up quite dramatically.  What we're seeing in the last, 
you know, five years is quite a dramatic increase.  1.2 million rests to 1.6, almost 1.7 billion 
people are arrested every year.  But when you compare this to the total number of cases 



finalised by the National Prosecuting Authority, that red line at the bottom, you see an 
(indistinct) trend.  It’s been declining slightly.  The last couple of years it’s gone up.  And that 
suggests that what the police are doing about crime, is not part of the comprehensive strategy 
for the whole Criminal Justice System.  They're operating on their own, doing what they need 
to do according to their mandate, but this is not feeding through to the rest of the Criminal 
Justice System.    

And it also means that very large numbers of people are being arrested and released 
without any other further process happening and that is important for a number of reasons.   

When you look at this issue internationally, there is evidence that while large scale 
arrests for petty crimes, which is not an uncommon strategy for police around the world, can 
reduce crime in the short term.  Over time it can actually cease to have that effect and can be 
a contributing factor to why crime starts increasing again.  

And the reasons for this is, is that most arrests for petty crime do not necessarily act as 
a deterrent to people, especially if they are unemployed, marginalised or don’t feel very much 
part of the bigger system.  And rather that when in the police deprive people of their freedom, 
it’s not a very pleasant experience, it can be traumatising, but it can compel the (indistinct) 
amongst certain communities and groups of people, particularly young males and result in 
break down in community relations. 

In fact people will get arrested, released, arrested, released and then they start having a 
sense that the law means anything, that they need to act in a certain.  So it can actually result 
in those people continuing to break the law or actually break the law worse. 

And as I've said, that (indistinct) is just limited to the police.  So immediately there you're 
going to start seeing that there might be a challenge in the way the police are performing and 
what people are experiencing.  

And if you look at the crime trends, it’s clear this is a total crime from 1994.  You see it 
really increasing up until 2002, 2003.  At that point where about 2.7 million crimes are reported 
and then it starts decreasing.  We know the recruitment strategy sort of happened around the 
end of the 1990s and we started to see the first large numbers of police being recruited 2000, 
2001 and these additional police probably did have quite a bit impact.   

Certainly crime dropped quite significantly in the next few years.  We see this big 
reduction.  But then from about 2004 and 2005 the rate of decreased slowed down, but from 
2007, 2008 it actually seemed very kind of flattening out and in the last two years there’s been 
a run of 3% or 4% increase in total crime rates.  This is just what the massive picture shows.   

So what we know is that for the last five years, in spite of additional police officers, 
doing more patrols, searching more people, making more arrests, it’s not having the same kind 
of effect as it used to have on the total crime rates.   

And if you break this down further, you would have heard before from previous 
testimony, I think, around the difference between policeable and non-policeable crimes or less 
policeable crime.  Robbery is often seen as one of the more policeable, because it’s committed 
by very – relatively small groups of people who repeatedly commit it in very particular modus 
operandi and if you have the right intelligence and the right strategies, the police can do a lot to 
reduce it quite significantly and we've seen big reductions even in South Africa where they’ve 
really focussed on this.  There’s been some success.   

So we see it going up as well, up until 2003, 2004 and then it sort of unevenly comes 
down in the last two years, particularly we see sort of flattening out.  Majority of these kinds of 
robberies are street robberies that take place when people are walking to and from work, early 



in the mornings or in the evenings when it’s dark and to a lesser degree you see house 
robberies, business robberies, car hijacking make up most of the rest of these kinds of 
robberies.  
 But when you go down into those specific crimes and particularly what we want to look 
at is house robberies, because they tend to drive of crime a lot.  It’s pretty much house 
robberies and murder according to the National (indistinct) Crime Survey that people fear the 
most.  They don’t want to be attacked in their homes.  If you're attacked in your home it’s 
incredibly traumatic and you can see that there’s been quite a dramatic increase in these 
kinds.  It did drop in 2010, 2011, around the time of the World Cup.  Still a bit of a reduction 
there and then an increase.  That drop was largely driven by initiatives in Gauteng which at 
that point recorded about 57% of the total national house robberies, whereas all the provinces 
have seen an increase at that time.  And then you see the same for business robberies.  It’s a 
big increase in 3 200 case in 2004, 2005 to 16 000 as last year and then car hijacking was 
coming down, started to stabilise and go up again. 
 So these are very policeable crimes.  Organised networks of criminals, you can have 
quite a big impact on them if you're using resources effectively and this suggests that 
additional resources are not resulting in the kind of reductions we should be seeing if the right 
strategies were being used.   
 This is just another survey to show that people’s experience of crime is increasing.  We 
take quite a few different sets of data to assess whether crime is going up or down and this is 
just the Grant Thornton International Business Report, which shows you that for quite a period 
of time there is a big reduction in their staff and their family members experiencing the crime, 
in the last two years it’s going up quite steeply. 
 So the ultimate argument is that the ability of police to control crime through additional 
resources and increasing the police activities, appears to have reached the limit.  It’s not 
having the same impact on the policeable crimes as we would imagine it should have.  And 
interesting enough, as I put my submission, there is scientific evidence, (indistinct) hypothesis 
that the less respectful the police are towards suspects and citizens, generally the less the 
people will comply with the law and that making both the style and substance of police 
practices more legitimate in the eyes of the public, especially amongst high risk juveniles.  
Maybe one of the more effective long term police strategies for crime.  
 So simply put, it’s not just what the police do, it’s how they do it.  It’s very important in 
democracy to get that public (indistinct).  And I think where I'm now moving from the 
performance, what could explain this reduction in the ability of the police to impact crime, given 
the increased resources they have, I believe has linked to the issue of conduct.  So does the 
SAPS have a problem with abuse of power.  I'd argue that there is certainly evidence for this.  
And of course I'm not talking about all or most police officials.  I'm just looking at some of the 
date that suggests that it is relatively a relative problem. 
 I mean we've seen the increase in the number of police brutality cases opened against 
the police, the 10 year period ending in 2011, 2012, increasing by over 300%.   
 In 2012, 2013 a total of 4 097 cases of assault and torture opened with the Independent 
Police Investigative Directorate, that’s about an average of 11 cases per day across the 
country.  
 In the 720 deaths recorded and reported to the IPID in 2011, 2012 they found evidence 
incriminating on the part of the police in 162 cases which they referred to the MPA, which is 
almost – it was about one in five cases. 



 We know from the National Victims of Crime Survey that those households that 
experienced public safety corruption or a portion of those households that said that the police 
were the source of the corruption increased from 18.6% in 2007 to 22.9% in 2011.   
 But the Humans Science Research Council social attitude survey found that two thirds, 
66% of the adult population think that corruption is a wide spread problem in the police and 
that consistently over a period of about 10 years, less then half of the population, around 41% 
as the (indistinct), said they had any level of trust in the police.  And then 2012 Future Fact, 
35% of their interview samples said they are scared of the police.   

So you wouldn’t have these kind of figures if people were generally very happy with the 
police and it was just the odd case where somebody was doing something.  This suggests and 
supports the notion that there is a systemic problem of abuse of policing across South Africa.   

Further to support this, is the number of civil claims.  You can see 2009, 2010 it was 
pretty much the same, but from 2010 onwards you see this massive increase.  This is a 
contingent liability.  This is the total amount in civil claims that the police face.  This is not what 
they pay out or what they found to be guilty – where they were found to be liable for anything.  
This is just what they will receive given here.  So you can see quite a dramatic increase 
(indistinct), from 7.4 billion in 2010 to 18.4 billion as the last year.  

And the National Minister has seen this particular rise in civil claims as a problem and 
released his own statement saying that he wants the police management to look at this to stop 
abuse of policing to reduce this kind of issue, because obviously it’s starting to have a 
budgetary implication.   
COMMISSIONER:   Mr Newham, do we have those figures in actual cases, in the number of 
cases as opposed to the quantum claimed? 
MR NEWHAM:   No, we get them from the South African Police Service Annual Report. They 
break them down into things like shootings, arrests, that kind of thing.  I can make that 
available. 
COMMISSIONER:   Okay. 
MR NEWHAM:   But we don’t actually know the numbers of cases. 
COMMISSIONER:   Okay. So you know, you can have one very big case with a very large 
claim? 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja. 
COMMISSIONER:   And that could shift it.  Obviously the general trend doesn’t look like that.   
MR NEWHAM:   Ja, people generally tend to claim large numbers, amounts, but they want to 
claim large amounts.  The payout is actually much smaller.  I think the payout is in the region 
of about 22 million at the moment, if I'm not mistaken.  
 Okay.  Then linked to that, so why is there the systemic problem?  And one of the 
arguments around police abuse is the issue of – well, there is two components to it.  The one 
is the organisational ethos and professionalism which every police officer really fully 
understands, believes in the Code of Conduct and use it as a guidance to, when they exercise 
their powers at all times, on the one hand.  So it’s a very positive understanding of police 
professionalism that can prevent the abuse of power.  And the other one is accountability.  Is 
that when police officials do abuse their powers and are found to act wrongly, that they're held 
accountable.   
 And I think this is where we see a particular weakness in South African context.  
Criminally, if you just look at the Independent Police Investigative Directorate, the five years 
ending in 2011, 2012, they opened 11 880 criminal cases based on information and allegations 



made to them.  After investigation they send about one in five.  2005 there were 76 cases to 
the National Prosecuting Authority.  And of that number a 129 of those cases in that period 
ended in conviction.  So it’s a conviction rate of about 5%.  
 So if you are a police official that’s had a – facing criminal charges, the chances of 
being convicted are only 5%.  95% of the time you will be with – acquitted or the case will be 
withdrawn against you.  
 We know that there was a problem of people with criminal convictions in the South 
African Police Service.  There was an audit done in 2010 and 1 448 police officials were found 
with serious criminal convictions, ranging from murder, rape and assault.  This is not the 
thousands that have less serious convictions, such as driving under the influence of alcohol.  
And 25% of those were commissioned officers and many of these have been in the police for a 
number of years and in some cases no action had been taken. 
COMMISSIONER:   Just to go back to the first figure or the first set of figures, the rate of 
conviction from (indistinct) referrals, I mean that’s way below the average rate of convictions 
for the NPA generally.  I mean do we have any qualitative research to understand what’s 
happening there? 
MR NEWHAM:   There is a study done by the Civil Society Initiative on Prison Reform by 
Lucas Muntingh and he talks a bit about NPA resistance or a hesitance to really prosecute 
police cases.  There is a relationship between the police and prosecutors.  They need to work 
together and so he suggests that there is this idea of not wanting to do whatever it takes to get 
these cases through the courts successfully.   

A very high profile case that suggests or supports this argument, is the (Indistinct) case, 
where if you look at the NPA case they didn’t subpoena a lot of the evidence they could have 
and in spite of six people being on video, who were involved in that death, no-one was held 
accountable.  All those officers (indistinct). 
COMMISSIONER:   And what are the principles on legal representation in those cases? 
MR NEWHAM:   Sorry, do you… 
COMMISSIONER:   Legal representation in those cases are, are police, members of the police 
force who are charged or a service charged with serious offences, are they represented at the 
cost of SAPS or do they cover their own costs? 
MR NEWHAM:   As far as I understand it, if the charge emerges out of being on duty and 
anything you did while you're on duty, then the police will pay for your legal defence.  And if 
you're off duty and it’s not related to your work, then they won't.   
COMMISSIONER:   Even it’s been referred by IPID for a criminal prosecution? 
MR NEWHAM:   I'm not a 100% sure.  So the Criminal Justice System is not being seen by the 
police as a particular concern in terms of being held accountable.  The disciplinary system is 
probably lesser.  There’s about 5 000 plus disciplinary hearings that are held every year in 
South African Police Service.  It’s a very labour intensive process, because you have to get 
presiding officers, send out notices, make sure there is recording equipment.  They do do it by 
the book and so to hold this 5 000 or 500 odd hearings is quite something. 
 But the numbers of cases ending in dismissal have been decreasing.  So in 2009, 2010 
about 12.2% ended in dismissal.  Last year 8.4% ended in dismissal.  The most likely thing 
that’s going to happen to a police official facing formal disciplinary charges at a disciplinary 
hearing, at least one in three, 36% of the time is that there – the hearing will end with no 
sanction against them.   
 So out of, in last year, the financial 2012/13, of the  



5 861 hearings that were held, 2 137 cases were either withdrawn or ended in not guilty 
verdict, which is quite high, because that hearing is only held once there’s been investigation 
and there is prima facie evidence that the person on a balance of probabilities has committed 
some breach of the police code of discipline, Disciplinary Code.   
 So to go through that process and still have this big number that in the end not guilty or 
acquittal or the case withdrawn, is problematic.  The most likely is not a guilty verdict.  So 1 
600 cases was a not guilty verdict.   
MS BAWA:   (Indistinct – not speaking into microphone).  Sorry.  The 11 000 figure on top, that 
IPID opens and the evidence from the Western Cape IPID head or acting head at the time was 
that in most of these case the investigations to be conducted are actually referred to SAPS to 
be conducted? 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja, that has been a problem.  I think for quite a while they had around 70 
investigators and a total national staff around 250 people.  As far as I understand it was – what 
they intend to do, is for certain probably less serious crimes they'd refer them back to the 
police and then ask for updates in the dockets, try and monitor the docket, ja.  It’s not an ideal 
situation if you want to investigate independently, but at least does provide some oversight, 
independent oversight. 
 So and we’ve seen this increase, of the not guilty verdicts increasing by 139% since 
2011.  So there seems to be a systemic problem with the disciplining system.  For some 
reason there is enough evidence to hold the disciplinary system, but in vast numbers it doesn’t 
follow through.  And we have had situations where for instance police officials have been found 
guilty of assault with intention to do grievous bodily harm, getting suspended prison sentences 
and then going through a disciplinary system and getting a fine of a few hundred rand.   
 So sometimes the disciplinary system is far less severe on the individual than the 
Criminal Justice System.   
 It’s important to note that when you have such large figures or indicators of wide spread 
problems around conduct in the police organisation, that it’s not just a case of bad apples.  And 
this has since the 1970s been sort of an element of focus of some research internationally.  
Typically around the world the sort of leaders of the police, the top management will say, well, 
we admit there is some problems, but these are individuals. We're taking action against them 
and we don’t need to change anything else.  
 However, it’s been internationally increasingly recognised that this notion of removing of 
bad apples is not going to solve the problem.  It’s a much bigger organisational and 
environmental problem that goes well beyond culling a few individual police individuals.  It’s an 
organisational and administrative issue.   
 So ultimately the research suggests that if you do have something as – where it seems 
to be more than just a few cases and it seems to be systemic, you need to have a look at the 
whole organisation, its culture and the only people who can really ever effect change in the 
police organisation is the top management.   
 Independent oversight bodies cannot do that.  The IPID cannot be responsible for 
reducing cases of misconduct, nor can any other external agency.  They can play a role, they 
can independently investigate, but you simply can't hold them accountable for reducing these 
problems.  It has to come from the top of the organisation.   
 I think when looking at the sort of ethos of the organisation, one of the things that seems 
to be quite clear is that the South African Police Service Code of Conduct doesn’t play a 
featured role in guiding a lot of what happens.  It used to be in the front of the South African 



Police Service Annual Report and a few years ago it’s been removed.  When I have been 
looking at various Commissions, such as the Marikana Commission, I haven’t heard it being 
referred to once and if you speak to police officials it’s something they sign and then never 
think about again.  So that’s a big issue, I think, because at the end of the day you can't – you 
know, the police have a high level of power, far greater power than ordinary people, a lot of 
discretion.  Your least trained, least experienced officers, your constables are the ones out on 
the streets in the community.  Is facing very difficult and challenging circumstances.  Their 
supervisors are not right there to monitor everything they do.  They often only respond when a 
letter gets written or a complaint gets laid later.  
 So you have this situation of people with increased powers, high level discretion when 
they decide to use that power, when they rest, when they search when they don’t.  No-one is 
telling them what to do and then a relatively low level of accountability.  So if they do do it 
badly, they're not necessarily going to be held accountable for it.  When you look at 
international literature around corruption, that’s power with discretion and lack of accountability 
is the fundamental formula for a problem of abuse in some ways. 
 Now the National Planning Commission, National Development Plan says there should 
be an investigation, to what it calls a serial crisis of top management.  And that can partly be 
seen that since 2008 there’s been five national commissions, three acting, I mean two acting 
and three fully appointed.  We know that Jackie Selebi was found guilty and convicted of 
corruption.  We know that Bheki Cele was fired for problems of administration and now we 
have a third National Commissioner and there has been some controversy around her.    
 So what that serial crisis seems to suggest is that in certain situations, senior officials in 
spite of evidence of long doing, there is no action against them or action is not consistent.  
Sometimes people are appointed in senior positions for reasons other than they're written 
integrity and this has been a (indistinct) of the Police Portfolio  Committee for a number of 
years.  They repeatedly raised this problem.   
 That issue creates the impression in the organisation that either political or personal 
loyalty is more important than hard work, honesty and qualifications when trying to go for 
senior positions.  And that’s not a very healthy organisational culture to have.   
 It contributes to a culture characterised by code of silence.  You don’t speak out against 
things. You're worried about what will happen to you and a code of silence is already a very 
strong cultural issue.  And the lack of willingness to reflect openly and honestly on key 
challenges and that undermines police (indistinct) and a willingness and ability to reflect. 
 And this is – these are broad statements.  This is not the case in all across the – every 
aspect of the whole organisation, but it certainly has been a challenge that I've noticed over the 
years.  And some of these issues have been raised by the Portfolio Committee on police. 
 A good example is the recent case of misleading crime statistics.  So for the first time in 
20 years there were serious errors in the crime statistics release by the South African Police 
Service.  The crime totals are not in dispute.  So the numbers of crimes, numbers of murders, 
numbers of robberies, there is no problem with that.  
 Where the problem came in, is how the crime ratios were calculated.  Crime ratios 
mean the number of crimes per 100 000.  So our murder rate for instance, the murder ratio 
was last year 31 murders per 100 000.  And it’s important to calculate crime such as murders 
that way, because every year the population of the country changes.   
 So if you have a 100 murders in year 1 and 100 murders in year 2, the risk of your 
murder has actually decreased if your population has grown.  So you need to calculate the 



ration and it helps you compare with other countries and so forth.  So it’s a common and 
acceptable way of calculating crime and determining whether crime is actually going up or 
down, not just looking at the raw figures. 
 And what happened in this most recent series of crime stats, was that the crime – the 
population estimates from the 2001 census showed that in 2011, 2012 there are going to be 
50.6 million people in South Africa. 
 However, the 2011 census found that the population growth in South Africa had been 
greater than that modelled in 2001 and there was actually 52.3 million people.  So almost 2 
million more people than they had thought there was going to be. 
 So when the police calculated the crime ratios in 2011, 2012, they used the old 2001 
census.  When they calculated the ratios in 2012/13 they used the new population census.  
And then they took the crime ratios of 2011/12 away from the crime ratios from 2011/12 – sorry 
2012/13 to 2011/2012 and said that was the crime ratio for 2011 – 2012/2013, which is 
incorrect.  It’s a factual and statistical error. 
 What does it mean?  Well, that is the picture of the most serious crimes.  So you can 
see that the police said that murder increased by 0.65, when actually increased by 2.6%.  It 
shows that sexual offences reduced by 0.4%, when actually it increased by 1.5%.   
 The common trend there is that every crime category where crime increased, the error 
showed that the increase was lower than the actual increase.  And in every category of crime it 
decreased it over emphasized the decrease, where the actual decrease was lower. 
 When you get down to the provinces, because of the population differences are quite 
large, in Western Cape is particularly pronounced.  So for instance, according to the official 
crime stats ratios, murder went up by 0.5% when in fact it went up by 10.1%.  Those red lines 
show where the police say that crime is going down and in fact it’s going up.   
 So common assault the police says is going down by 7.7%, is actually going up by 
1.1%.  Burglary residential the police say it’s going down by about 0.5%, it’s actually going up 
by 9%.  And theft of motor vehicles they say is going down by about 5%, when actually it’s 
going up by 4%. 
 We made the Police Commission aware of this statistical error and after, there has been 
no willingness to meet with us about it.  There has been no willingness to correct the figures 
and in fact there’s been a huge amount of defensiveness and it’s, we think, a problem of 
integrity, because these are wrong and they're misleading and they need to be fixed. 
MS BAWA:   You make this submission in relation to the last two calculations of the crime 
statistics, those that are post the 2011 census? 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja, the 2011 census came out in 2012.  So the police only had updated data 
for 2012, 2013 and they used updated data for those (indistinct). 
MS BAWA:   Right.  Now you say this is so for the national crime statistics and for the 
provincial crime statistics.  And if we – if we disseminated it down to the various police 
precincts, would you also find that your crime ratios would then be wrong? 
MR NEWHAM:   If you used the wrong census data, it would be wrong, yes. 
MS BAWA:   If that is so, and it’s effectively your crime statistics which is one of the 
components that impact on how you determine your human resourcing, then your human 
resourcing is also wrong? 
MR NEWHAM:   It will have a number of negative effects.  If you use incorrect data, you get a 
problem when you make a range of decisions. 
COMMISSIONER:   Would they use – would they use actual crime figures from year to year or 



would they use the ratio crime figure 
MR NEWHAM:   I think they might use both.  I'm not – because the crime ratios give you a 
better accurate assessment of the risk factors.  So if you want to say, is murder a problem in 
this precinct and you just look at the numbers of murders, so you had 10 murders, but there 
are a million people living there, it wouldn’t, you know, and you would try to compare where to 
put resources...(intervention) 
COMMISSIONER:   It’s a comparative aspect? 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja, so you have to use ratios to know what the comparative aspect is. 
COMMISSIONER:   Ja. 
MR NEWHAM:   That you actually have an increase in the crime or decrease according to the 
numbers of people living there.  And it’s interesting if you look at Gauteng, because Gauteng 
records the most numbers of crimes, you know, more than 50% of the entire population’s – or 
more than half the national crime stats come from Gauteng, but there’s so  many people living 
there, that it’s actually sort of average, it’s not (indistinct). 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean in a sense, if they used the incorrect or the incomparable ratios is 
actually what you're saying, it’s not so much that they're incorrect.  They just didn’t create a 
comparable ratio between the two years, particularly where there had been a big growth in 
population or perhaps a big shrinking in population, but more likely big growth, a more than 
forecasted growth over a 10 year period.  That would have quite an impact on human resource 
allocation, wouldn’t it? 
MR NEWHAM:   It would if they were using those incorrect figures. 
COMMISSIONER:   If they used incorrect figures, but we don’t actually know whether they did 
or not.  We should perhaps be able to tell that from Brig Rabe’s affidavit documents.   
MR NEWHAM:   These are just the official crimes stats released last year on the 19th of 
September that I'm – so I don’t know if they were – to what extent they will do this internally. 
 There are no simple solutions to improving policing.  Police improvement internationally 
or successful police reform internationally is not the rule, it’s largely the exception.  It’s a very 
difficult job.  In my experience, for about most of the last 15, 16 years of working in the police, I 
have no illusions about how difficult the job is and I have huge respect for many police officials 
at all levels of the organisation.  I think there are so many of them doing incredible good work 
under very difficult circumstances. 
 But I do think that when it comes to looking at what needs to be done that we don’t need 
– we have a good basis in the National Development Plan.  This is a plan from the presidency.  
It has been adopted by cabinet and I think it acknowledges some of these systemic and 
leadership problems and that’s a very welcomed result, because we don’t need to go out and 
create new plans for this.   
 The plan is vague in some areas, so it probably needs a lot more detail, but ultimately it 
says that in the short term the Code of Conduct should be included in disciplinary regulations 
and all performance appraisal systems and that there should be periodic checks on the level of 
understanding and the practice of the Code.  Because as I've said earlier, it’s that Code that 
I'm a professional police official and that I don’t need somebody to hold me accountable.  I hold 
myself accountable, because I understand my role in the society and how important that role 
is.  And this Code of Conduct which I've signed, is going to guide me. 
 The Code of Professional and Ethical Police Practice should be developed and all 
members should be trained and tested and if you don’t understand it, or you can't adhere to its 
practical implementation, then you shouldn’t be in the police according to the National 



Development Plan. 
 And oversight body should also play a role in monitoring its adherence.  So portfolios 
committees should make sure that the Code is being used and so forth.  And even IPID when 
they're doing investigation, should look were the (indistinct) of the Code adhered to? 
 The National Development Plan also seems to suggest that the changes faced in the 
police and given the nature of South Africa as a very diverse and complex society that it – we 
can't expect the police on their own to solve the problems they face or to even fix the police 
and that is why they seem to suggest the establishment of a national policing board that is 
multi-sectoral and multi-disciplinary or has that kind of range of expertise and that it sets the 
standards for recruitment, selection, appointment and promotion.  So there’s very clear 
guidelines for when you get recruited into the police and when you're promoted and so forth.   
 And that all officers, certainly starting with the commission officers, should then undergo 
a competency assessment and be rated accordingly, because they’ve also recognised that for 
too long too many people have been appointed into positions where they don’t necessarily 
have the right skills, expertise or background.  There’s been some scandals where people 
have jumped six ranks and so forth (indistinct).  And that there should be a two stream system, 
so that you create a high calibre level of officers and recruits to be trained as professionals, 
either as managers or as the operational police officials that do the work in the streets.  
 There should be objective testing based on set standard and criteria to reward 
experience and competence in the police and recruitment to the officers stream should be 
followed by further training and testing.   
 The National Commissioner and the Deputy National Commissioner should be 
appointed by the President on a competitive basis.  So a selection panel should select 
interview candidates against objective criteria and make recommendations to the President 
and that the President chooses somebody that’s gone through a transparent selection process, 
so that you know that person can do the job and has the background, which will help that 
individual as National Commissioners and as Deputy National Commissioners, because they 
would have gone through a process by when they are appointed, everybody understands why 
they're being appointed, because that process demonstrated their backgrounds and abilities 
and they would start in that position with respect from their peers and from the public. 
 There should be more focus on training for professionalism, there should also be in 
short term the demilitarisation of the police and the organisational culture and subculture of the 
police should be viewed to assess the effects of, first of all the militarisation, demilitarisation 
and remilitarisation that we’ve seen over the years and the single crisis of top management.   
 So I think if these initiatives are taking place, we'll see increasingly more consistency 
across senior management in the police.  There are really highly skilled amazing people who 
sit in the national office and the cost organisation, so we’ve got a good basis to build from.  But 
we really need to bring the Code of Conduct to the fore and if we are able to achieve these 
things, we will see over time and a senior leadership team that can put in very practical 
recommendations in place, monitor the implementation and ultimately that will reduce the 
amount of police abuse that’s taking place, improve service delivery and we will start seeing 
closer relationships between the communities and the police as we all desire that.  I'll end 
there. 
MS BAWA:   Let me take you to the last point first.  The National Development Plan was 
approved in 2012.  It’s almost two years, has any of those recommendations been 
implemented or has a start been made in implementing any of those recommendations? 



MR NEWHAM:   Not to my knowledge. 
MS BAWA:   So is – would you venture a reason why not? 
MR NEWHAM:   It’s difficult to know why not, because it’s been adopted.  So I would imagine 
that there would be urgency, I don’t know why not.  It’s – it is a bit mind boggling, because this 
plan has been developed by the Presidency and adopted by the Cabinet.  So I would imagine 
that there would be sort of a sense that it should be implemented, but it’s not being 
implemented.   
 It might be that currently the Presidential prerogative to choose anybody as Police 
Commissioner, serves an interest that wouldn’t be served if that power was limited.  And so 
maybe it’s meant to do that.  I don’t know. 
MS BAWA:   But that’s the very Presidency that adopted the policy in the first place? 
MR NEWHAM:   I agree.  That’s why it’s a bit strange that it’s not being implemented. 
MS BAWA:   I directed Dr Burger’s attention to a press release, where the minister who has 
reported last year, is indicating that we need to bring about changes to a recruitment policy.  
We know in this province for instance that there has been 668 more posts created, but we're 
not aware of any change of any recruitment policy.  Are you aware of any change in the 
recruitment policies that’s been brought about? 
MR NEWHAM:   We've read from the minister that there will be publishing the names of new 
recruits in local newspapers and involving the community in that process, but it’s been spoken 
about as more or a less a plan that we will be doing this.  I'm not sure if that has taken place as 
yet. 
MS BAWA:   Let me take you back to near the beginning of your report.  One of the tasks that 
the Commission faces is to determine whether there is any efficiency at station level.  What 
would you say are the factors that one would have regard to when determining such 
inefficiency? 
MR NEWHAM:   Well, if you want to understand whether there is inefficiency or not, obviously 
look at the existing regulations, standards, codes and then assess the behaviour, the conduct 
against those.  And if you find that there’s a gap and it’s not happening, then you will know you 
have an inefficiency.  It is quite a complicated process to try and really understand where there 
is a good policing or bad policing, because as I've said, there is a very qualitative component 
to it.  It’s about trust.  It’s about expecting your  police officials to have a level of decision 
making and discretion that not everybody can necessarily train for.  That’s why policing is a 
calling.   
 But police stations, police organisations are para-military.  They have a very clear 
hierarchical structure.  There is a national commissioner and authority gets delegated 
downwards.  Police wear uniforms, they tend to salute each other, there is a strong sense of 
rank and position.   
 So you can fix a police station to a certain point, but that police station is very much 
subject to decisions made higher up, how many in the calibre of the recruits that that police 
stations finds itself with.   
 Police station commissioners can't just fire people.  That decision gets taken higher up, 
how many vehicles they have. So at a station level it’s – you can find very practical things that 
can be improved and I think the internal inspectorate is tasked with that kind of work, but if 
you're looking at systemic problems about the Code of Conduct, the culture and that, those 
need to really be addressed at the top of the organisation and they're filtered down.  That’s 
where all the accountability and the professional ethos has to start from.   



 If your senior managers are not adhering to the codes and regulations, it’s very difficult 
then to hold those below you accountable for them. 
MS BAWA:   You referred to reports that were done by the Police Advisory Committee in 2006 
and 2007.  What committee was that and what actually – what did that reports tell us? 
MR NEWHAM:   It was a temporary committee set up in 2006 by then Commissioner Jackie 
Selebi.  It consisted of a number of retired police generals and they visited about 850 odd 
police stations around the country and did an assessment.  They would spend about a week or 
so in small teams at each police station.  And their job was to give a frank, internal unbiased 
assessment of what they found and with recommendations on how to improve it.  The term of 
existence was extended to go into 2007, 2008 and they produced two reports, two annual 
reports which were then submitted to Selebi and presentations given to the management team 
at the time. 
 And they found lots of issues to do with inefficiencies and a range of issues, actually 
quite long reports and quite detailed, but for instance, people not following the standing orders 
correctly, problems with discipline, problems with commander control, inadequate training, 
inadequate accountability.   A lot of these kind of things were found then.  
MS BAWA:   So what happened to it? 
MR NEWHAM:   Once the presentation was made to the National Commissioner and the 
senior management team, Jackie Selebi found himself shortly thereafter suspended or on 
special leave in January of 2008 and as far my knowledge, nothing ever happened to those 
reports.  We – those reports were – an attention was given to – well, we drew attention to 
those reports again in 2009 when the new minister was appointed – in 2010, sorry, when he 
set up a reference group, but from my understanding the general response is, well, those – 
that those reports were written by generals who were the cause of the problem.  In other 
words, all these big problems in the police happened when these generals were in the police 
and now they're out of the police and they are now criticising the police and therefore we can't 
take it seriously.  
 So I've got a strong sense that they don’t really take those reports seriously and haven’t 
used them. 
MS BAWA:   The current Provincial Inspectorate has produced reports which were provided to 
us in relation to Khayelitsha, the Khayelitsha police stations.  The kinds of issues which you 
raise, having been – let’s say arisen from the Police Advisory Committee Reports, have 
repeatedly been raised in the Provincial Inspectorate Reports.  We find time and time again 
that the problems are identified.  We’ve been told that those Provincial Inspectorate Reports go 
up to the PC under the national instruction.  It goes up to the National Inspectorate and once 
presumes in some form or another has got to be provided to the National Commissioner or 
advisors to the National Commissioner.  We don’t find that there’s any regress of an adequate 
kind in response to those reports.  So what’s the point of doing them? 
MR NEWHAM:   Well, I think that goes back to the systemic nature.  If the system doesn’t 
promote regress, accountability or a change in the culture, then it’s not going to change the 
outcome.  So you'll have the same problems occurring over and over again. 
COMMISSIONER:   It seems to be, obviously some of the issues are culture related, but some 
of it just seems to be the impossibility of getting the command and control systems to operate.  
So whether it’s doing first level or second level inspections, or filling in registers or dealing with 
dockets, supervision or whatever it is, it just is not being done and although that may be raised 
by the inspectorate, you know, every time they go, which in the case of the Khayelitsha police 



stations over the last four years has been repeatedly. 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja. 
COMMISSIONER:   That they just don’t seem to get fixed? 
MR NEWHAM:   Ja, one of the – first of all I think you're looking at a massive organisation.  So 
to fundamentally change or re-orientate an organisation of almost 200 000 people spread 
across the entire breadth and width of the country the size of South Africa is going to give you 
problems in that of itself. 
COMMISSIONER:   But that’s not the issue.  We're only dealing with three police stations here 
and they are getting very detailed reports.  And although they're quite big police stations, 
particularly two of them, I mean we're talking less than a 1 000 people (indistinct).  And those 
three police stations are not doing it.  I understand the problem for national office when they're 
dealing with 1100 police stations and even for provincial office dealing with a 150.  We're 
talking about three and each of them has probably had four inspection reports which as Adv 
Arendse has pointed out, many times very accurately identify the problems.  So the problem 
seems to be not analysis, it’s actually getting it done.  And we’ve seen the station 
commanders, you know, very courteous people who obviously want to do their job well, but it’s 
not clear why things like, do your second inspections properly, don’t end up in second 
inspections being done properly by senior officers in SAPS.   
 I'm reluctant to think that this is something that one automatically says, well, you deal 
with it through a disciplinary process.  It’s almost as if there is just the idea that you have to do 
what you're told by the inspection report, is not instilled. 
MR NEWHAM:   I think it is an issue of accountability private, that action isn’t taken when it 
should be taken and that’s not necessary negative action.  That – good examples of sort of 
successful police reform show a sort of sense of the police management which move from a 
case of, I'm just looking after my particular area of work that I'm finding very difficult enough as 
it is, to a more collective professional approach where you say, how do we collectively solve 
this problem?   
 So in the South African Police Service, my experience of it is that bad news tends to 
travel down and good news tends to travel up.  So if you are reporting to an administrative tier 
above you, so provincial commissioner to a national office or station to the provincial office, 
you'll tend to emphasize what’s going right and that you're doing a good job, because you don’t 
want to be seen not to be handling what you're dealing with. 
 The national and provincial offices look down and they see these problems, they're 
getting the reports, but they tend to – seem to wash their hands on it.  The sense of you must 
fix this problem, you're the station commissioner.  They don’t necessarily provide better 
guidance, better resources or change the systems. 
So it’s this ongoing challenge where there isn’t seemingly a coherent sense of we’re all in this 
together, we must try and fundamentally change things. It’s a lot a lot of sort-of this is so big, 
so difficult, I want to protect myself as an individual. 
COMMISSIONER:  The reports are quite detailed, and a lot of them are about – they’re not 
really about – one of the things that concerns me is that what you might describe as your key 
function about building trust and reliability, those don’t seem to be measured much at all, 
because they need external input. 
 Everything’s about internal stuff, i.e. have you done your SAP 15s correctly, have you 
done your dockets.  So that’s a different issue, but they’re very detailed, and there’s a lot of 
things that need to be attended to, and I suppose, you know, if you were thinking through it 



practically you would say well, I actually – you have to fix your SAP 15s and you have to fix 
your docket inspections. Those are absolutely your priorities, and the next time we do not want 
to see that those are not done. 
 The other things are nice to haves, and we do want them to happen. They will be the 
next thing along the line.  

But, you know, if you take the Project 6 as we’ve got it at the moment, so that’s the 6th 
most – six police stations that are responsible for the most serious contact crime in the 
Western Cape, which are basically within a 15 km radius of where we sit, you know, they went 
three times in the course of one year, basically doing this, and really not seeing an 
improvement.  

And it’s difficult to know what to recommend to SAPS when it seems like, when they 
make suggestions to their own line managers, the line managers can’t do it. Or don’t do it. 
Or… 
MR NEWHAM:   My experience is that what is called to the managers lower down is not that 
detail. It’s not, prioritise this over that. It’s fix this, and there’s a lot of stuff to fix. 
 So what I say then in sort-of Provincial meetings of Station Commissioners, that’s the – 
and I haven’t done it in the Western Cape, I’ve done it in Gauteng mostly, not recently – you 
know, the Provincial Commissioner, the Provincial team, they’re about 134 Station 
Commissioners, and it’s very broad. It’s, like, pay attention to the reports! Make sure 
everything works!  It’s not, okay, that station you need to fix Z, Y, Z by the next time and if you 
don’t there’s going to be a problem, or if you can’t, tell us how we can help to fix it. 
 It’s sort of, do it, and then we’ll just do it. But it doesn’t get done, and then when it 
doesn’t get done nothing seems to happen, and there’s usually more a focus on the higher 
profile stuff if it’s a problem that’s got into the media, or – those seem to dominate the kind-of 
issues, a lot of the national concerns will come into those meetings.  But it’s not a – my 
experience hasn’t been that that level of guidance and specific detail about what needs to 
happen, what order, is provided. 
 Some very good Station Commissioners, managers, can do it. They can see it and they 
do it themselves, but it’s not – you know, I find (indistinct) across stations as a result of that. 
We’re relying too much on the individual managers at lower levels to do the job or not do the 
job, and whether they have the capacity or ability is also very uneven, and that there isn’t the 
kind of support and guidance coming from the Provincial and National spheres. They’re sort-of, 
well, we’ve given you resources, we’ve told you what to do in broad terms;  now just go along 
and do it. 
 And that was interesting in those PSU reports where some of those gentlemen will go to 
a police station and everything was working, but crime was high. And there were problems with 
the community/police relations, and it wasn’t because of police performance. It was just that 
they weren’t given enough resources, given the prime challenge, there might be very difficult 
communities there. So it’s not always easy to fix, but I think that’s the dynamic of the culture.  It 
goes back to that notion of being very specific about needs to be done and then hold people 
accountable. 
COMMISSIONER:  You see, I don’t think is a culture issue. I think this is a management issue. 
There may be culture issues out there which have got to do with other things, but this seems to 
me to be – I mean, I suppose you could say it’s a culture not to do what you’re told, but that 
seems odd in an organisation which is Commander-control orientated.  
 It seems to me really to be very much management-oriented, which is to say you have 



to do this now;  you are a leader in this organisation – you don’t do all 17 of these issues but 
one, two and three must be implemented within a week, four, five and six must be 
implemented within a month, and the rest are going to be implemented within a year. And we 
don’t mind how you do the rest. But one, two and three are going to be done right now. 
 Not that’s what you see. You see a sort-of a – it’s like a shotgun of all of these problems 
which have been said to the Station Commanders many times. But I suppose it’s a lack of 
prioritising and following through on, this is – I suppose it’s A, B, and C priorities and nobody’s 
telling them this is A, this is B and this is C.  And, of course, it’s a little bit difficult because it’s 
hard in the police force to say – or in the police service – to say anything C. But actually 
something has to be C, because you can’t do A, B and C all together.  
 So it’s that sort of – I’m talking out loud, because I’m really concerned as to how one 
actually assists SAPS, which is really what the task of this Commission is, to try to address 
what seems to me to be their most glaring issue, which is that SAPS knows what’s wrong, but 
SAPS can’t fix it. 
MS BAWA:  Can I – can I maybe add to that, that it should be a combination of the two.  Let’s 
take the example of the Tshabalala Report. It’s commissioned so that the National 
Commissioner can get information to see what’s the problems in Khayelitsha. The PC asks the 
Commission – the task force – to broaden their scope of investigation so that he could be 
informed about difficulties over and above what the National Commissioner wants.  The task 
force takes that on board.  
 They go and inspect the three stations. At the time almost all the senior management is 
on leave. They’re not even aware of the inspection that’s being conducted, save in one or two 
instances.  The Tshabalala Report gets finalised, it gets given to the PC. At some point the PC 
gives it to the Deputy Provincial Commissioner. Somewhere along the line there’s an 
instruction given that this is a confidential report. It is never provided to the Station 
Commanders.   
 It is revealed in court papers and it’s annexed for the public to see, but it’s never given 
to the Station Commanders. The first look that the Station Commanders get of the Tshabalala 
Report is on the eve of giving evidence before this Commission. 
 Now, that’s not either a cultural or a mix of, I mean, of a culture.  That’s management.  
MR NEWHAM:   Yes, it is management. I think that when I was talking about culture I meant 
what is the normative behaviour and practices in that management group.  And I used the 
word “culture” to describe that. But – so you’ve got powers, authority and guidelines, and what 
are you managing, what are you not managing?  And how you understand what’s taken 
seriously and not is informed by what becomes the behaviour over time. 
 And so if this is sort-of the way things are done, to suddenly call in Station 
Commissioners and start telling them to prioritise and that will be seen as kind-of probably 
interfering or micro-managing, or what’s the problem now;  this has never been done before.  

Those kinds of seemingly simple and practical things actually require quite a big change 
in mindset. 
 The New York City Police Department is a very good example of how long it took them 
to get to that, because Comstat was about that.  The senior managers had to move from the 
situation where I think the SAPS is now, to a point where they had to call in Commanders and 
sit and deal with stations and very specific issues every week, initially in quite a harsh way, 
which just meant that they lost about 50% of their station.  The police officials all went on sick 
leave and resigned, and then they couldn’t get people in those posts.  



 And then later, as they told us, they started realising that you couldn’t put it all on the 
Station Commissioner. The Station Commissioner is in an incredibly difficult job. I really have 
huge respect for many of our Station Commissioners because they work without this guidance, 
a lot of demands, literally an impossible job, every day of your life. And, you know, you’re only 
going to be a baddie. You’re going to be seen negatively – the community, your own people, 
people at the top don’t think you’re doing a good enough job no matter what you do. So a thick 
skin is required.  

But they took a lot of time to get there;  they took about ten years before they got 
Comstat working.  But that was the next thing, is that they realised that when they had to go to 
that specific police station, they had to realise that they needed support. They had to start 
getting Station Commissioners to share ideas, they had to distribute resources, they had to 
move in and provide a positive way of solving these specific problems. But that was our 
experience, or my experience, when I went there and spent a week with them. 
 So it’s not an easy thing to do, but it can be done if there’s the political will to do it, and 
to recognise that you have to do it. And the results were very positive there.  
MS BAWA:  You (intervention). 
MR PIKOLI:  Now, just a moment. Tell me – now, given the formal structure and the informal 
structure as well as the culture and sub-cultures within security services generally, is there 
room for democratic accountability? 
MR NEWHAM:  I think that’s the reason why you have to have democratic accountability! The 
weaker your formal accountability structures are, the more those sub-cultures that work 
outside the formal rules become the guiding, normative cultures. They determine what you do 
and what you don’t do. 
 So if you are focusing on one thing only, you know, basically you hand over control to 
whatever happens at a very local level in those sub-cultures. So you’ve got to recognise that 
those cultures are there, and there’s a huge bodywork of police culture.  

And, interestingly enough, it’s always been seen as quite a negative thing. Sort-of police 
– the most common characteristic of police culture is called “the code of silence”.  Every police 
official in most countries around the world suddenly realise that they – they’re in a very 
extraordinary job that has certain kinds of unusual pressures and demands on them that can 
have very real negative consequences for them, or very real positive feelings of fulfilment.  
 So police officials who see that as their life calling and want to be professional and run 
by the rules, have an immense sense of achievement. They can help people, really, every 
single day of their lives. And often that’s what drives them. 
 But, similarly, police officials who don’t have that ethos can cause huge damage. When 
police make mistakes, people’s lives can be at risk, they can lose their freedom. 
 So you can’t just let that happen. You have to sort-of really focus on these cultures, and 
you have to look at what is causing the police to do one thing and not another thing. And I think 
that’s what the National Development Plan calls for, it says there needs to be this assessment 
of these cultures to determine what is guiding the decision-making, what is guiding the 
behaviour, because we know it’s not necessarily in all cases the code of conduct, and a lot of 
these rules and regulations are simply not being adhered to – and it’s not that it’s not known.  
It’s, now we need to understand why. 
 And from my perspective I can speculate and I can hypothesise, but I think it does 
require a much more rigorous study. 
MS BAWA:  But to ensure such accountability, we have, from the Constitution down, 



established oversight bodies. Let’s take the National Secretariat for one, and then let’s take the 
Parliamentary Portfolio Committee. I mean, are oversight bodies – I take the bigger or the 
nationally established ones – not doing their job? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, I think, first of all, the notion of what oversights can achieve and what it’s 
there for must be very clearly understood. I said earlier on that if you want to reform a police 
agency, you hold the managers of that police agency directly responsible for doing it.  

The oversight agencies can only provide you with independent assessments of what’s 
going on. They can independently investigate cases, they can independently assess policy 
implementation, they can create policies. So you need to assess them against those mandates 
that they have. 

But as I said before, the architecture of the Constitution when it comes to oversight was 
recognised that we need oversight, but you couldn’t allow the police agency to create its own 
policy, implement its own policy and report on that on its own. And effectively that’s what 
happened when the National Secretariat became moribund around 2000. It literally shrunk to 
about 30 people and wasn’t doing anything. 

So those oversight agencies have that kind of role. They’re supposed to provide the 
political focus and independent assessment, that’s the executive oversight structures such as 
the Secretariat. Parliament is supposed to assess whether the budgets have been properly 
spent, look at the audit reports, make sure – they represent the people, so they must look at 
issues of abuse and conduct over time, and then of course the IPID, the Human Rights 
Commission and others can instigate enquiries or investigations in specific cases. But they 
should also work together.  

So you should sort-of have these different agencies coming together with the police and 
saying, well, this is what we’re finding, how do we understand and manage this. And that’s 
quite unusual. 

Usually, the police don’t like oversight structures, like most people don’t. They’re 
professionals, they don’t want civilians interfering with what they believe is their professional 
domain, and so there’s always this tension between what the police are willing to listen to 
when it comes to these recommendations – we see that until the new Police Act, the new 
Independent Police Investigative Directive Act, that a vast majority of recommendations were 
simply ignored. It’s only now that it’s in an Act saying that they must report within two weeks, 
and only more recently has that sort-of starting to change. But for most of the last decade or 
so, it’s been ignored by the vast majority. 

So this issue of oversight is important, but it’s got to be seen as complementary to 
police reform. It’s not going to drive the police reform only and that’s why I think it’s important. 
MS BAWA:  You, I think, touched now on oversight – you talked about the code of conduct.  
Adjunct to that is how discipline in SAPS is dealt with, and the role oversight organisations or 
bodies should have in the manner in which substance or discipline – can you … 
MR NEWHAM:  Sorry – can you ask the question again? 
MS BAWA:  We look at the disciplinary code within SAPS and our SAPS supplies it, around 
two levels, one dealing with more serious matters, and one dealing with less serious matters. 
And how do you see the role of oversight bodies in relation thereto? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, from the Secretariat side, I would expect them to be tracking those 
figures;  how many hearings are being held, where, which part of the country, what the 
outcomes are and so forth. And when they see things like, well, why have so many cases been 
withdrawn, because those figures are the national averages, so you’ll find some stations, some 



Provinces, that are varying from that.  
And I would imagine that if you suddenly see that in Province X, 50% or 60% of the 

cases are being withdrawn, then their role would be to go and commission a study into why 
and what’s going on there, what exactly is the problem, and then give that information back to 
the Minister who can then instruct the National Commissioner to fix the problem based on the 
recommendations.   
 That should also be fair to Parliament, so that’s the Secretariat saying our role in 
overseeing the police has been to commission this study, these recommendations, this is what 
the police say they’re going to do, and then Parliament can then play a role in getting feedback 
from what’s been done by the police and the Secretariat. 
 So that’s how they’d work together, for instance, to identify and rectify problems in a 
system like the disciplinary system. 
MS BAWA:  Theoretically, but is that what’s practically happening? 
MR NEWHAM:  No, it’s not happening like that. 
COMMISSIONER:  One of the things on oversight that’s been a concern, or – that’s an 
understatement – has been the lack of oversight of the system of human resource allocation 
within SAPS. And I have no reason to think other than that this very complex system which has 
been designed was designed in order to try to ensure that SAPS human resources were 
located where they were.  
 But when a sort-of check was done on that against populations in the Western Cape, 
the fact was that the poorest communities who had borne the burden of Apartheid, and who 
now had the highest crime levels, are the lowest per capita policed communities.  
 Now, I just don’t know how that can happen, when you have systems of oversight in the 
context of a Constitutional framework which is about transforming what we had in the past, not 
perpetuating it.   

What’s your answer to how that could have happened? 
MR NEWHAM:  I think it goes back to what the police are willing to report on share – even 
admit that they’re doing or have. That would be something that you’d imagine the Secretariat 
would be doing, because that’s the first direct executive oversight. It’s a civilian-led policy and 
monitoring agency.  And so there would be political pressure to transform, make sure 
resources are distributed equitably, and they would – they should be able to see that that’s 
happening or not happening.  And it’s not happening. 
 The Secretariat, as I said, really literally ceased to function in any meaningful way in 
2000 after Jackie Selebi, and has only, since the passing of the Secretariat Act in 2011, after 
that has there been attempts to grow this organisation in terms of resources. So it’s got a 
whole lot of new people there trying to find their feet.  

And I think even those in the Secretariat are trying to do kinds of work, and I know 
there’s work going into complaints management about how do the police manage and respond 
to complaints, (indistinct) data. It’s not always easy for the Secretariat to get that information, 
to go to visit various people in the Provinces, because there is kind-of resistance;  you’re an 
outsider, who are you to come and tell us what to do.  

And that process really needs to be managed at a political level so that, for instance, the 
Minister sits down with the Secretary of Police, and the National Commissioner, the Provincial 
Commissioners, and say, right, this is a Secretariat task and we must all make sure that they 
get unbridled access to all this information.  And that doesn’t always happen. 
COMMISSIONER:  I mean, one of the problems that I have with that proposal is that it’s very 



internal. It’s not very transparent. And generally transparency is good for improving quality of 
decision-making, not to make people feel ashamed. 
 I mean, this is a cultural question. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. 
COMMISSIONER:  If we’d made a mistake, it’s something we should be ashamed of. Well, 
actually, what you should be ashamed of is that you’ve made a mistake and you don’t fix it. 
 And that’s the culture we have. 
 Okay, we all make errors, we’re all human. This is a very complex process we’re doing. 
We all accept that. The error about which we should be angry is the error which is covered up 
and not fixed. And so I think that needs – it does worry me that that’s – the way the system’s 
designed is (indistinct) looks internally and there’s no external eye on this.  
 You can produce some results, which I think probably pretty well every actor in the 
system would say, that’s not the result I wanted to produce. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. 
COMMISSIONER:  But actually that’s actually what they have produced, and they’ve produced 
it for 20 years. 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, I agree. I think the Parliamentary Oversight Committee is one dynamic 
that can bring some of this into the open, but it really needs to be a lot more detailed and 
ongoing.  
 So – there’ve been initiatives.  I mean, the National Secretariat developed a Reference 
Group, invited civil society players such as ourselves into that. I know the IPID’s done the 
same kinds of things. But there is a very close culture inside the police service. So, you know, I 
mean, this is reflected in the crime stats. These are just numbers. They belong to the public. 
The public pay for those numbers to be collected so they can see what the crime problem is. 
 But they’re released six months out of date, when they’re completely historical. So that 
reflects this idea that we can’t share information. And it’s a very strong culture, it’s very closed. 
COMMISSIONER:  I mean, there’ve been witnesses that the Commissioners approached to 
testify who work in this field who’re anxious to testify because they don’t want to block their 
copy book. And, you know, that’s a worrying culture to have. 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, when you have that culture you can be negatively construed to be anti- 
the police.  So if you speak openly about pretty much everything I’ve said here today, it is 
unfortunately interpreted by some senior police officials as – that you’re going for – you don’t 
like the police, that you want to damage them and undermine their credibility, when actually the 
reason why we do what we do is because we understand how important the police are, and 
that in fact there are so many good police officials that, given the resources that we have both 
in terms of financing, funding, but also the individuals, who’ve got sort-of amazing experience 
in very difficult circumstances, we have everything we need to really see big improvements, 
and it’s not happening. 
 So one of things we’re trying to do is raise these issues. 
COMMISSIONER:  One of the – one of the things that many of the senior leadership of SAPS 
said when they came to testify was they wanted a good job, and if there were anything in the 
recommendations that would be helpful, they would find that very useful.  

So I think it’s right that there are, you know, people in SAPS who really want to make a 
difference, and I think a process of conversing and trying to assist is a good one, but not 
everybody necessarily sees it that way. 
MS BAWA:  Can I shift off culture for a moment. You took us through the national budgets. We 



got some submissions about how policing competes for the – its part of the national pie. But it 
seems within the last ten years it’s gotten a substantial part of the national pie because the 
Government recognises the need to fight crime as being an important objective that it needs to 
attend to. 
 But one of – an article in which Dr Burger commented a couple of years ago is where he 
says it’s a one-sided approach to crime, that they see billions spent on law enforcement which 
deals with the symptoms rather than the root causes of the problem. Experts believe that the 
limited funding available for social development schemes and the fact that fewer are in 
operation will result in high levels of crime for some time to come. 
 I’d like your comment on that. Are we budgeting this wrong? 
MR NEWHAM:  I think, if you look at the – this is from an analysis a couple of years ago, so it 
might have changed by now, but I think about 10% of the budget, about 100 billion, was being 
spent on the Criminal Justice system, of which almost 70% is allocated to the police ultimately. 
So there’s expropriations and stuff;  there’s less money that gets handed to them every year, 
so it’s actually higher than I said there. 
 That is higher than many countries, which only spend around 5% on their Criminal 
Justice system.  So I think the Government has recognised crime as a key challenge, it has 
(indistinct) key challenge that it recognises needs to be addressed with, and has seen the 
Criminal Justice system as one of the re-agency or set-off departments to deal with crime and 
so they’ve made sure that they haven’t wanted for funding.  
 And so you won’t find many Criminal Justice agencies around the world that has that 
kind of increase in funding as we see in South Africa. It’s quite rare. In fact, in most of Europe 
and America you see the opposite;  they’re actually decreasing their budget. 
 That’s the first thing. So I think there’s been an attempt to make sure they get enough 
funding and resources.  
 The second part of the question as I understand it is that we rely too heavily on the 
police and the Criminal Justice system to deal with our crime problem, and I’ll agree with that 
as well.   

The police should really have quite a limited and very clear mandate, because only 
once the law is broken can they really act. I mean, they can move around and talk to people, 
and try and do social crime prevention by speaking to kids at schools about the danger of 
drugs and that kind of thing. But ultimately they’re trained to use force, arrests, in terms of the 
Criminal Procedure Act, so you really want to use them as a kind-of last resort.  

The fact is that (indistinct) are associated with crime are quite varied, and very social in 
nature. So – and they start influencing children from a young age. There’s been some very 
interesting studies;  the Perry Pre-school Programme, which I think ran in the 1960s in 
Chicago and then was replicated in other high crime cities, showed that from children between 
the ages of 3 and 7, for instance, just two hour sessions with a well trained social worker and 
the parents and the kid once a week for a year in terms of how to help with homework, 
discipline, bonding, social development, that kind of thing – those cold cohorts of two to three 
hundred kids were then tracked until they were 19. And on average they were 50% less likely 
to abuse drugs and alcohol, fall pregnant, or be arrested for minor offences compared to their 
peers in the same social conditions that didn’t have that social worker intervention. 

So the cost-savings is that every one Dollar spent on the social worker would save you 
the equivalent of nine Dollars later on when that individual starts committing crime and you 
have to bring the police, which is a very highly, much more resource-intensive kind of 



approach, locking people up. 
So there’s a lot of evidence internationally that, ja, we should probably be spending 

more on the social crime prevention side of things if you want sustainable reductions.  
So we have hired almost 70 000 additional police in the last ten years, but we have a 

shortage of around 50 000 social workers.  So maybe we should have found a better balance if 
we want to reduce crime. 
MS BAWA:  Have you – are you familiar with the Community Safety Plan?  Ms Holtman’s 
going to be giving evidence about it later in the week. But this was developed by the CSIR in 
2009, and as I understand it, was approved by the Department of Social Development and had 
Cabinet approval. It’s another one of those plans that’s never really seen implementation.  
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. I’ve heard of it, and I know a little bit about it, but I’m not fully aware of it.  I 
mean, where it’s at or what’s happened with social development.  So I think the Department of 
Social Development, it does have a plan around that as far as I understand, as you said, but … 
MS BAWA:  In essence, the approach is to make communities feel safer. You turn the triangle 
around, you look at it from bottom up, you look at all the factors that would make a community 
safer. Policing is a component of it, but you look at those factors and you make the respective 
departments responsible for effectively relying functions. And you need a Department, 
essentially, to drive this process, and that Department is not policing. That’s how I understand 
the proposal. I’m not entirely sure where they see the Department that should be driving the 
process to be located.  But would you care to comment on that kind of approach? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Well, I think we initially in 1996 had a national crime prevention plan, which 
really did understand those principles. So of the four pillars of that plan, only one was the 
Criminal Justice system, and the others focused with other aspect of Government 
Departments. 
 It was a new Government, so it was still trying to come together and work and basically 
the NCPS was abandoned by 2000, and the National Crime Prevention Secretariat became a 
component with the South African Police Service, and the National Crime Combating Strategy 
run by the police became the Government’s crime prevention plan.   

So I think what happens is, when there’s growing crime and growing fear of crime in any 
community – and this is not unique to South Africa – that the immediate response from most 
Governments under pressure from a restless or fearful citizenry is policing, because they’re in 
uniforms, you can see them, they have flashing lights, it’s a very quick response, and the 
reality is that where people see more police they certainly initially feel safer, so there have 
been experiments done.   

There’s a good one called the Kansas City Patrol Experiment, where they divided high 
crime areas into three components and then component one, they said, well, we’ll keep 
policing as normal. Component two we’re withdrawing all the police aids, all the police 
vehicles, and they’ll only go in there if there’s a direct call for help, and then in component 
three we’ll add those additional resources so that there’ll be double the number of patrols. 

And then over, I think it was about six to eighteen months, they tracked the crime. The 
crime didn’t change in those three areas. What did change was people’s feelings of safety and 
that the police were doing a good job. Where they saw more police officers patrolling around, 
they felt safer and were more likely to say that the police were doing good a job. And the next 
neighbourhood, where they didn’t see any police, they thought the police were doing a terrible 
job and they felt terribly unsafe. And there was very little change in the sort-of – the component 
didn’t change. 



So when – that is why there’s this usual response. Policing’s very visible. And also, if 
you have a political system that works on five year terms of office you can’t say to your 
population you’re terrified now, well, we’re going to spend this much money on social workers 
and, believe us, in ten year’s time things will look better!  Because you can’t always guarantee 
it, first of all, and it’s not as easily understood. 
MS BAWA:  You make two statements in your report:  you say that: 

“It is generally assumed that the more resources the police agency has in terms 
of personnel and vehicles, the better one can expect you to perform with regards 
to its quantitative indicators.” 

 That’s additional patrols, (indistinct), etc. But then further in the report you say: 
“International [indistinct] can be used to explain why additional policing does not 
necessarily have the desired impact on crime rates.”  

 Now, isn’t that a bit of a contradiction in terms? 
MR NEWHAM:  It’s the word “necessarily”.  There’s a point at which additional resources fail to 
have the same kinds of impact.   

So if you make the assumption that we saw a reduction in our crime rate from 2002 to 
2008/’09, ‘09/’10 as a result of these additional resources, which I think which the Government 
has made an assumption, we can see over the last few years, four or five years, that those – 
increasing additional resources and increasing activities haven’t resulted in the same kinds of 
decreases in crime.  
 So at some point your ability to police crime down weakens. Adding more resources is 
not going to change things. You need to start changing the nature of the police, the way they 
strategise. 
 A good example of that is in Gauteng against house robberies, business robberies and 
car hijackings, because in 2005 and ’06 they really started increasing. I think at that stage 
house robberies was going up 40% a year, business robberies was going up about 80% a 
year, and hijacking, car-jacking, was going up about 20% a year.  And we did a big 
assessment of it, and by 2009, working with the police, developed a Gauteng Aggravated 
Robbery Strategy, using exactly the same resources.  They didn’t add resources to what they 
were doing;  they just re-orientated them differently, and made that a priority. 
 They managed to increase the arrest rate by 100% within six months, the last six 
months of 2009, and then in 2010 the conviction rate went up by 3%. Now, robberies are 
committed by a relatively small number of people committing the same crime over again. So 
they were actually able to remove enough robbers out of – off the streets of Gauteng to see a 
10% drop in house robberies in 2010 – 2009/2010, because the people that were committing 
those crimes are now being arrested and it was seen as a deterrent. 
 So there’s a point at which you can do that, but certain crimes – so what I was trying to 
say in the report is that it’s not a simple case of just throwing more resources. You actually 
have to change what you’re doing and, as I said in the beginning, or early on in my 
presentation, the evidence about once you’re not have the same effects because of what the 
police are doing, then you now start looking at how they’re doing it. And one of the most 
important things is building up public trust with them. 
MS BAWA:  But you have Khayelitsha which is historically was a strafstasie. I don’t think that’s 
disputed. You come along in 2002 and 2003, you’ve got one station, you’ve got 200 members. 
You look at it, you plan, you convert to satellite stations; you now have three police precincts, 
you’ve now got nearly 700 personnel. But you still have the greater Khayelitsha today, nearly 



ten years later, top of most of your contact crimes. 
 Now, you’ve put the personnel there, you’ve put the resources there. You have 
detectives, however, that are so overburdened that you can’t say, I can’t put more human 
resources there because those detectives can’t possibly do the amount of work you’re 
expecting them to do.  What’s your solution then? 
MR NEWHAM:  It’s then about re-orientating the resources that you have. Look, there’s no 
simple or glib answer to this! But (intervention). 
MS BAWA:  We’ve come to discover that! 
MR NEWHAM:  I know, it’s – what you have to do is something different. So if what you’re 
doing isn’t working, and I suppose this is for most things, but in policing, then you have to try a 
different approach.  And I think too often what happens with policing is there’s a toolbox of 
activities that people are trained and know how to do – those are your patrols, road blocks, 
search and seize operations, that kind of thing, and you kind-of do that over and over again, 
and if the crime goes up you do them more. 
 But sometimes you need to start taking people from, say, visible policing, and putting 
them into other roles, (indistinct), you maybe need to put more resources into intelligence. So it 
might be re-orientating resources; you have to do something different.  And the only way you’ll 
know if that’s going to work or not is when you’ve done that, made sure that it’s been 
implemented, and then tested it.  But, once again, you’re not going to police crime, all the 
crime down in Khayelitsha;  the conditions that are causing the crime need to be addressed as 
well. 
 So you really can’t rely only on the police to deal with the crime problem. 
MS BAWA:  With an eye on the clock, let me ask you a few general questions. In your view, is 
the police underpaid? 
MR NEWHAM:  I don’t – well, my answer to this is always firstly there are many hardworking 
men and women in the South African Police Service who, given the work they do, the hours 
they put in, and what they achieve, they’re definitely being underpaid.  But they have too many 
colleagues who are not as disciplined and as dedicated and focused, who may be earning the 
same salary, and I would say they’re getting overpaid. 
 So that’s the first part.  
 The second part is, I think the issue of police payment has certainly been given a lot of 
attention, certainly about ten years ago with the Jackie Selebi approach.  And what I 
understand is that they are slightly – they’re paid slightly above what other public servants are 
paid for similar gradings.  
 And so that they can’t really be said to be underpaid at this point relative to their 
colleagues in the public service as a whole. 
MS BAWA:  You talked a little bit about the screening process of recruitment, and the dangers 
of mass recruitment.  What’s the solution on recruitment? How do you deal with it? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, if you need to increase the numbers of police officials, and that might be 
a very real need, then you make sure that your systems for, first of all, identifying those that 
you want to be in the police service who need to be strengthened along with your training 
capacity, and then your management capacity in the station. And those other aspects of 
recruitment didn’t happen. 
 So what happened was, is the decision to hire thousands of – up to 6, 7 000 more 
police officials a year when they really had systems only designed to cope with maybe one or 
2 000, to get those police officials, new recruits, onto the streets, they halved the training time 



from two years to one year. Fortunately, that’s been rectified;  training’s now back to two years. 
 So you had training shortage.  Six months in college, six months in the training station. 
But the problem was that you had overburdened trainers;  they had large numbers of recruits. 
You couldn’t really get them to understand the essence of what they were being trained in.  
They landed up in stations where they weren’t necessarily properly trained, they weren’t 
necessarily the right people, and then you had frontline supervisors suddenly managing – one 
year they might have been managing ten people, the next – two years later they’re managing 
thirty people, and they themselves haven’t received any professional guidance for resources. 
 So the decision was taken to really increase the numbers of police officials, but I think 
what you really need to do then is look at the whole system, and say, well, what do we need to 
do down the line to make sure that we can cope with that number of people, because they’re 
armed and can be dangerous! 
MS BAWA:  We’re having somebody testify on the nature of training, but one of the 
suggestions made is that the training should, by its very nature, have a component of ethics 
training. Is that currently missing from police training? Are you aware of it? 
MR NEWHAM:  I think there’s a sort-of a module of it, I’m not 100% sure on the time training 
and structure. There used to be a component where they would train you on ethics, but I think 
that you need to look at whether the current training on ethics is adequate, because 
sometimes if you take ethics and you just make it a separate module, like learn the code of 
conduct, it’s not going to help you apply that to different circumstances. 
 So, for instance, when you’re training people on how to make arrests, then you should 
be looking at how do you make arrests ethically. 
 A bit challenge in the South African Police Service is arresting too quickly without 
reasonable suspicion, and that is one of the components driving the civil claims, unlawful 
arrest. 
 So every aspect of policing needs to be trained within what is an ethical police officer, 
how do they exercise a discretion in this particular function that they’re doing.  
MS BAWA:  Let me take you to crime stats. The evidence before the Commission was we get 
all this information, we get it off the CAS system, we get it from our stations. There are 
problems with the information we get in the way stations categorise crime.  We use the six 
months lag time to fix up those errors essentially so that the statistics that we eventually 
release are more accurate, and that we in fact took this approach because we were trying to 
curb the unreliability of crime statistics. I’d like your comment on that. 
 And the second question I’d like to raise is, you talk a little bit about the Bogota example 
where the approach was adopted that as a means of increasing trust, crime statistics was 
released.  
 Could you address those two issues? 
MR NEWHAM:  Okay. You will never have perfect police data, or certain crime data. There are 
so many variables that can affect how crime is recorded, whether it’s reported first of all. So 
just starting with who reports crime, we know that even in developed countries in Europe with 
relatively low crime rates, the best you’re going to get is about 60% of the crime occurring in 
any place isn’t reported to the police. 
 So, first of all, it’s not a scientific measure of the crime challenge. 
 But second of all, these statistics are audited and released later, and when I’ve seen 
raw crime stats that have been audited and the audit results released, there are not mass 
indifferences. I mean, you’re not looking at a 5 or 6% difference. It doesn’t change the crime 



figure for a police station that said we had a 3% increase and suddenly it’s going up to 6%.  It’s 
usually 1 or 2%, if that, usually more or less like half a per cent. 
 So I don’t think that that’s the main reason, because when I was working for the MBC 
for Gauteng, I got every month all the raw stats and we used them.  And when I looked at the 
later audited figures they weren’t really that out of date. And this was already 2005/2006.  Most 
of the improvements took place in the sort-of early 2000s when we had that moratorium on 
crime stats. 
 But to go to the second part is that Bogota’s a good example because they didn’t – they 
sort-of had different sets of statistics. So they had, sort-of, the prosecutors had statistics, the 
police had, their health department had, and they all sat together and said what statistics can 
we use, how do we use them, what do they tell us, with Universities, with statisticians. So it 
was a very inclusive approach. And then they identified which stats they thought were most 
relevant for understanding murder and that kind of thing, and then released it publicly.  
 And what happened there was,  is that when communities have information, they don’t 
necessarily have to rely on the police. So if you are in this precinct and every month on the first 
day of the month you go to the police station or you go on the Internet, and you see the crime 
stats.  If you live in New York you can see the crime stats every week, updated for the last 
week.  
 Then you can say, right, I’m a small business owner, I can see business burglaries or 
business robberies going up. The first thing you can do is get together with other small 
business owners in your area and you can tighten security, you can put burglar bars up or 
whatever.  
 So you land up having initially communities just doing stuff themselves, which actually 
releases – reduces the burden on the police.  If the police are the sole custodian of information 
of the police, then you’re really relying completely on the police for any information about 
crime. It’s not efficient. It means that the police will get called for everything, when they don’t 
always need to be. 
 So there was something like 200 different initiatives that came out of that Bogota 
experience, which didn’t involve the police, but contributed to their significant reductions in 
murders and robberies in that city.  
 And so that’s why we’ve been calling for regular release of crime stats, because they’re 
just – they’re just numbers. They’re (indistinct) audit, they still no doubt have – they’re out of 
date. They’re not scientific measures, but they will tell a community, that wait a second, in May 
this year compared to May last year – because you don’t compare stats on month to month 
because there’s seasonal changes;  you compare it with the same time last year – we’re 
seeing an increase in whatever crime it is, street robberies. We must now work either with the 
police or get together and ask the police where it’s taking place, having the initiative and then 
immediately the next months we can see if that initiative is working.  Did we see a reduction or 
has there been no change?  And if it’s not working, you can then change your approach. 
 So that information, if it’s regular, provides an impetus to do things about crime, and the 
ability to track whether your initiatives are having any work – any success.  
 If you do these crime stats once a year and it’s six months out of date, it can only ever 
be of historical interest.  And then the secrecy around it, and this idea of never releasing it, just 
drives the suspicion in the communities that you can’t trust them.   

And in fact we, as I say, have been collecting crime stats, or statistics on crime, from 
various sources, and up to date the crime stats are actually relatively accurate in terms of – or 



consistent with trends.  
So we haven’t got a situation where, for instance, insurance data shows that there’s 

been this dramatic increase in claims for house robberies and business robberies, but the 
police show household and business robberies going down in the raw figures. The first time 
we’ve seen any problem was with these ratios I mentioned earlier. 

So we really strongly advocate that you give people information, and that will just allow 
them to act, and it’s also a basis for building partnerships. It undermines any sense of mistrust 
and can actually be used to build and promote trust between communities and police. 
MS BAWA:  But you have a further difficulty in that you have a Constitutional dispensation in 
this country where the Provincial – where the Provinces are provided with powers under 
Section 205 to monitor, to oversee, and I have conceptual difficulty to see how a Province can 
do that if they don’t have regular crime statistics, if they aren’t provided with the distribution of 
human resources within the Province in the policing.  Can you comment on that? 
MR NEWHAM:  Absolutely.  It’s about information, and that’s what we did in Gauteng, using 
the Development of the Gauteng Information on Police Performance System, as it was called. 
It was exactly about that. It was about obtaining information from different police management 
systems. It wasn’t about classified information, about the details of specific cases;  it was 
simply management information, crime stats for each police station, looking at how many 
arrests were made, how much was seized, how many patrols were done. And that being used 
to assess the 134 police stations at the time, and clusters and stuff like that.  

And it worked very well. It really started to strengthen the ability of the Provincial 
Government to at least understand what was happening, and mobilise its own resources, 
which it did through getting more community volunteers, sometimes mobilising funding for 
additional vehicles, because they had that information at hand. And it was all police 
information. It didn’t undermine policing; it actually strengthened the cooperation and the ability 
of the Government, the Provincial Government, to fulfil its oversight mandate. 
MS BAWA:  So one – we come a full circle, because ultimately at the cornerstone of improving 
policing lies openness, accountability and transparency.  
MR NEWHAM:  I think that’s why those are fundamental principles in our Constitution. 
MS BAWA:  Thank you, Mr Newham. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 
COMMISSIONER:  Mr Bishop? 
MR BISHOP:   Thank you, Commissioner. 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR BISHOP: 
 Thank you, Mr Newham. I want to begin by putting a statement – I’m going to try and 
roughly follow the order in your very helpful submission. And starting with the issue of the role 
of police in a democracy, and I want to put a statement to you from the report of Johnny 
Steinberg which I don’t know if you’ve seen.  He’s testifying later this week. And he says, as a 
sort-of rule of thumb for asking whether police are doing a good job, you’d ask this question: 

“Do parents tell their kids before they go away that if they need help, the first 
place they should look is the police?” 

 Would you agree with that? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. That’s – that test, I think I first heard from David H Bailey who’s an 
American (intervention). 
MR BISHOP:  Yes. That’s who Steinberg quotes. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Ja, he came to South Africa in the 2000s, and he used that, and I think it is 



important because it’s a sense of would you trust your own child – would you trust the police 
official to help your own child.  And it’s a measure of whether you trust the police or not. And if 
you say no, then you have a problem, because the police are there to assist you. And they 
should certainly be there to assist the most vulnerable people in society. 
 So it’s a good measure of whether you can say the police are being trusted by the 
community or not. 
MR BISHOP:  And given some of the stats that you provided about trusting the police and so 
on, would you say that South Africa is a country where most people would say yes to that 
question? 
MR NEWHAM:   I would like to just say (indistinct) if you asked that question, to know. But I 
would say, given the statistics we do have, I can’t imagine it would be a majority of people who 
said yes.  You know, South Africa still is not – not the worst performing country when it comes 
to police trust, certainly not in the world, probably not in Africa. But what is worrying is that 
those statistics seem to show a trend, they’re not changing. And if there in the last ten years or 
last five years initiatives to build public trust, we should see changed policing, we should see 
those indicators changing. 
MR BISHOP:  What I’m going now to, to some of the stuff you spoke about with regard to 
resources. Firstly, you showed how the budget of the police’s increase as an absolute 
measure, and has it also increased as a percentage of the total budget over time? 
MR NEWHAM:  Not – not that I’m aware of. I think it’s pretty much that every year you’ve seen 
the overall budget of the State grow, and they’ve just kept on allocating above inflation; I think 
it’s around 14 or 15%.  It sort-of changed, but generally it’s been a well above inflation rate 
increase, and it’s been in line with the overall growth of the Government budgeting. 
MR BISHOP:  And in terms of the percentage of the budget that South Africa spends on the 
police, how does that compare to other countries? Do you know? 
MR NEWHAM:  As I said, we looked at this a couple of years ago, but it was difficult to 
sometimes break that down for comparative purposes for just the police, so we looked at what 
was the Criminal Justice system, because that sort-of was an easier base for comparison. And 
in developing countries generally you would see a lower proportion, like 5% of the budget 
would be spent on Criminal Justice. In South Africa we had 10%. But then we have a much 
higher crime rate than developing countries – developed countries. A lot of developing 
countries don’t have that information. 
MR BISHOP:  From your testimony, there’s clearly not a direct relationship between more 
resources and reducing crime. But as I understood it, it’s likely at the beginning to result in a 
reduction and then it’s going to plateau after that. Is that … 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. That’s how it sort-of works, because if you have a crime problem, there’s 
factors that are causing people to rob houses or they don’t get jobs, or whatever it is. And 
there’s no consequence. Then obviously that phenomenon grows, because other young 
people say well, I can get away with it. You start arresting those people. It will lead to then a 
reduction.  It’ll be a turn for others yet to start doing that, and then you’ll remove those doing it 
from the streets.   

But the causes of why they are doing it would remain. So the people who are involved in 
criminal activity just start adjusting their modus operandi to avoid capture. So you won’t get rid 
of it completely. 
 So there’s a point at which additional resources simply don’t have the same kind of – I 
mean, the turn effect. 



MR BISHOP:  As the Commissioner pointed out, one of the issues is the relative resourcing of 
the Khayelitsha stations and other similar stations compared to stations in different areas of 
the Western Cape, especially more affluent areas.  If there was a shift, a very large shift of 
resources to the Khayelitsha stations, could we – and nothing else changed but just more 
resources were provided, I mean, could we expect a drop in crime, but that that would plateau 
after a while and then possibly later might start increasing again? 
MR NEWHAM:  It would really be dependent on not just the police being there, but what 
they’re doing. So initially, as I said before, if you just increase police resources but they weren’t 
improving the conviction rate or making proper arrests or responding to the public in a kind of 
way that the public appreciated, then you’d probably just see an increase in feelings of safety. 
You wouldn’t necessarily see crime going down. 
 The thing that will drive crime down, and once again you’ll have to look at the more 
police-able crimes, the police nowhere in the world can easily reduce a problem of inter-
personal murder between people who know each other, or domestic violence, for instance. 
 So you would have to look at the specific police-able crimes, and then say has that 
increase in resources resulted in changes in those crimes or not. And, as I said, you can 
probably just re-orientate what the police are doing without increasing resources and have 
quite a big impact on those crimes as well. 
MR BISHOP:  One of the things that was quite concerning about your testimony was that the 
increase in the – or the budget of the police, the number of arrests the police had made, 
whereas your number of convictions has remained relatively flat, and I wanted to ask, has 
there been a similar increase in the budget of the MPA? 
MR NEWHAM:  All the Criminal Justice system Departments have increased, ja. But the 
smallest proportion goes to the MPA. So the MPA, I think, has around 13 or 14% of the total 
Criminal Justice budget. The police have closer to around 70%, and the prisons are sort-of 
slightly higher than that. So the prisons have a similar budget, I mean, sort-of 2% difference.  
 So there have been seeing increases.  But there’s a whole different situation going on in 
the MPA. And there’s also this case finalisations, they’re not convictions.  So those 300 000, 
310 000 are the total number of cases that have been finalised with all verdicts or no verdict, 
but then (indistinct). 
MR BISHOP:  Now, Mr Newham, I want to ask you about some of the evidence we heard 
yesterday from Dr de Kock, who used to be the Head of Crime Intelligence at the police. And 
his – his testimony was he looked at the Station Crime Combating Forum minutes of the three 
Khayelitsha stations and – for a period of six months, I think, in 2012, because he didn’t want 
to have the most recent ones.  
 But in his conclusion from looking at those minutes is that the police aren’t engaging in 
the basic principles of crime intelligence. The phrase he used, which has been much used 
since then, is that they’re policing by chance. But basically what he’s saying is, that they’re not 
doing what he regarded as basic points of intelligence, that they’re not using the stats to map 
the crime by linkages between the crime and so on. And so – and he says that as one of the 
major reasons why the police have been ineffective in Khayelitsha.  
 I mean, would you agree, if his conclusions on the facts are correct, would you agree 
that that could affect the efficiency of policing in Khayelitsha? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja, because either you’re using resources to police everybody randomly, or 
you’re using your resources to police very specific places and very specific people at very 
specific times. One is – the second approach to policing is intelligent-led, so you respond to 



specific information in order to address a particular threat or problem.  The policing by chance 
is when you just have more road blocks, more patrols, randomly, so that people see you 
moving around. That’s – that’s sort-of roughly, or very simply how it sometimes plays out.  
MR BISHOP:  And is it a substitute for that sort of analysis of crime stats and the formal sort-of 
crime mapping linked to analysis – those sort of processes, is there a substitute for that, that 
you just say well, we, police in Khayelitsha, we have a lot of experience, and from that 
experience we know where the crime happens. So we don’t really need to engage in this 
statistical analysis? 
MR NEWHAM:  There is certain merit to saying that experience counts.  I think police officials 
who live and work in a particular area will, through experience, know how crime operates, who 
is involved in what areas. 
 But it’s one thing you knowing it, and another thing having to share that knowledge in a 
very concrete way with all your other components of the police station, for instance. And I think 
when you’re talking about sub-cultures in the police which it’s not only a unique thing in South 
Africa, but different functions tend to develop their own cultures. And they don’t always work 
and share information together. 
 So crime intelligence, you know, is the division, and your local level crime intelligence 
people are also reporting to different bosses higher up.  Your detectives, your street police, 
and your different managerial levels also have different cultures. So one of the biggest 
challenges in all police agencies is about – and why intelligence-led policing is so difficult, is 
because you’ve got to get these different people who are different parts of the puzzle, parts of 
the insides, to work together and share information and collectively plan. 
 So it’s okay, knowing that we as the crime intelligence of these visible people know that, 
but if you’re not – know what’s going on in our precincts – but if you’re not sharing that 
information with the other components, the detectives or intelligence, then you’re never going 
to be as effective.  
 So it is a big challenge, and using statistics and maps and concrete ways of sharing that 
information means that you’re all on the same page so that you know exactly where to – you 
need to make sure that next month – we often see an increase in December in robberies – we 
need to make sure that more detectives are on duty, we need to have more patrols in these 
specific areas, and we need to task our crime intelligence people to get more informers at that 
time on these matters. And that can only be shared if you have very real data to make 
everybody agree that we need to do this collectively. 
MR BISHOP:  Would it also be fair to say that, you know, obviously policemen have 
experience of where crime happens and who is responsible for it, but they may well miss 
things that would be revealed from sort-of formal analysis of statistics by a trained intelligence 
officer? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Because you also have a – you’re also being influenced by your bias.  So 
what do you as a police officer is think more important? You might not think – you might think 
that drugs is a very big problem that you’re really concerned about, but your colleague might 
not think that. They might think that robberies are more important, and somebody else might 
think that rape’s more important. 
 So you will then focus and become more aware of what the issues are according to your 
own personal bias as opposed to collective cold assessment of what the data is, and then 
working together to drive specific trends down. 
 So – ja. 



MR BISHOP:  While we’re talking about statistics, I want to jump to that – you mentioned in 
response to a question from Advocate Bawa about the Bogota system, when they released the 
crime stats regularly to the community, I just want to understand, what sort of information did 
they release?  Did they just release the stats so this week there were so many crimes and – or 
was it stats together with analysis, so there was an increase in time particularly at this 
shopping centre or at this intersection, or whatever it might be? 
MR NEWHAM:  They released – I know they released the stats monthly, but they also did a lot 
of mapping analysis, but I’m not sure what extent of that they released to the public.  
 With my engagement with Annateus Marcus, that mayor, I had two engagements with 
him, where we spoke about – I didn’t get to that level of detail, but he was saying, like, we 
release the stats monthly. Once we’ve agreed what the stats were and that we have a good 
measure of what we’re dealing with, we release those monthly.   

But I do know that there was a much more sophisticated process going on using both – 
different components of – Government trusts the Universities, so it wasn’t just the police sitting 
on the stats and doing their own analysis;  they were bringing in other Departments and other 
Universities to get as much out of those statistics as possible, because different organisations 
will look at the statistics differently and add a certain level of detail that a single agency can’t 
do.  

And I think that’s a very big weakness in South Africa. The police simply are the sole 
custodians and sole analysis of the stats. They don’t engage with any other Departments 
about this. 
MR BISHOP:  So, I mean, if you were releasing these stats monthly to other organisations or 
agencies, they can analyse and release that as a more specific set of information to their 
constituencies, so – well, whatever might be relevant. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Ja. 
MR BISHOP:  This particular area is – there’s been an increase in crime. 
MR NEWHAM:  You’re an NGO or dealing with tender-based violence, or you’re a clinic that 
deals with assaults, you would be looking at maybe those stats, because you would need to 
know whether it’s going up or down. You know, it has so many utilities for different kinds of 
organisations.  
 One is simply knowing what’s going on and trying to correlate those stats with other 
dynamics, unemployment rates, high school drop-out rates, that kind of thing.   

But very practically, you know, if principals were tracking street robberies and assault 
and that, they might see spikes in their precincts. They might then take action to make sure the 
kids who are walking to and from school are better protected, hospitals could be better 
planned, frontline clinics and that kind of thing, because they’ll see changes. And when that 
information is not shared, basically you don’t have the information to plan and to assess what 
they need to do. 
MR BISHOP:  In terms of releasing sort-of national crime statistics, I mean I understood you to 
say that should also happen monthly.  Dr de Kock said that he, in his view, monthly reports 
were – that they had been done at a stage and that it was unhelpful because there wasn’t 
enough time for analysis. 
 His preferred method was quarterly reports, where the reports – where the stats are 
released a week before to a group of analysts, who can all then consider it, and then there’d 
be a public release a week later when then the media and whoever could consult both with 
SAPS and with that groups of NGOs or analysts who had also seen the stats.   



And he thought that struck the right balance, that having just the stats come out every 
month might be too much information. 
MR NEWHAM:  No, I would agree. We’ve only called for monthly stats at station level. So 
simply on the first of every month you print out the most serious crimes – there’s about 20 of 
them – and you just put them on the notice board. And then everybody who wants to come and 
see them can see them.  
 If they wanted to do that via the Internet they could, because they have the capacity.  
But I agree, when you’re talking about a national level or even a Provincial level, it’s not going 
to be helpful to see the stats every month necessarily.  You can’t – you know, you can’t sort-of 
suddenly respond to an increase in house robberies across an entire Province, for instance, or 
the whole country.   

So I would agree with that, the high level stats could come out less frequently. 
MR BISHOP:  I want to now move to the issue related to corruption. And you made it clear 
that, as I understood your evidence, firstly that within SAPS there is sort-of an attitude that 
corruption is a problem of bad apples.  Is that fair? 
MR NEWHAM:  That’s – if you look at the statements over a number of years, that is definitely 
how it’s been spoken about.  There’s many examples of it.  We did see a slight tampering off 
from about 2011/’12, where, when the National Anti-Corruption strategy within the South 
African Police Service was adopted. We then saw the Minister saying that there needs to be 
more changed to the systems and issues on recruitment. 
 So it stopped – so it was less allocated to individuals, and more seen as a systemic 
problem.  But generally it’s been responded to in that way. 
MR BISHOP:  And that’s not a helpful way to respond to corruption in the police. 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, (indistinct) corruption is one form, but, ja, if it’s brutality or corruption 
(intervention). 
MR BISHOP:  Yes. So basically corruption and criminality within the police. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Unless it really is a case of (intervention), so if you’re getting a very, very 
small number of cases coming through, very few complaints, and you have high levels of 
public trust in the police, then it might just simply be that – you always have some level of it.  

I think the recognition is just – it’s not whether there is some level of corruption and 
criminality in a police agency. Every police agency in the world will have some level. The 
difference between police agencies is the extent. And some police agencies become corrupt 
agencies. In other words, they don’t – they will cease to operate within any kind of framework 
of law and rules, and start operating according to how much money you have. 

Now, South Africa – the South African Police Service is far away from that. We don’t 
have a problem with that in South Africa. We have a police agency that has a systemic 
problem of abuse.  It’s not an abusive agency as a whole. 
MR BISHOP:  So would you say as a response to corruption within – and criminality abuse 
within the police, that merely arresting officers who are found to have committed some form of 
abuse or corruption is, on its own, an effective response to the problem as you see it in SAPS 
at the moment? 
MR NEWHAM: It is an ineffective response. Even (intervention). 
MR BISHOP:  So it is an ineffective response? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. Sorry. So just – even if you could ensure that you would respond 
immediately, thorough investigations, and ensure a high level of convictions of police officials 
where information of corruption came to light, that would in itself be an ineffective response, 



mostly because most corruption, a vast amount of corruption, is simply never reported, 
because the corruptee and the corruptor both benefit.  So there’s no interest in either one of 
them reporting it.  
 So you then have to have what they call pro-active or random integrity testing where 
police officials are subjected to a situation in which they could take bribes but they don’t know 
that this is a set-up.  And if they don’t take bribes you can later tell them they didn’t, and they 
can go on their file as somebody who’s not corrupt. And if they do take bribes you could take 
action. 
 So that’s one way. But I think the lessons from the literature is that you really need to 
focus as much if not more on the positive ethos of professional policing, because at the end of 
the day the police know their own strengths and weaknesses, and the only thing that’s going to 
stop some people is a very strong sense of duty and morality about the profession that they 
hold, and they know that if they act this way it’s going to fundamentally undermine that 
profession, and they don’t want to do it for that reason.  

And then in that kind of situation you have your corrupt cops, biggest fear of their 
colleagues, whereas in a closed system where that’s not a dominant culture, it’s the other way 
round.  Non-corrupt cops just turn a blind eye because it’s too threatening and dangerous to 
them to start taking it on. So they just turn a blind eye and get on with their work, and corrupt 
cops know that there’s very little accountability for being corrupt. 
MR BISHOP:  You say in your report that, because of the nature of policing, there’s relatively 
little supervision of sort-of the daily actions of police. And that that limits the amount that 
management can do to combat corruption. But what are some of the steps that a Station 
Commander could still take to deal with corruption? Or abuse and criminality. I’m using 
corruption to cover those. 
MR NEWHAM:   Well, I mean, the first thing is to – is to – they would usually have – they 
would, in the past, sometimes have station lectures, so at least once a month the Station 
Commissioner calls all the people together, most of them, and has a lecture and talks about 
the importance of professionalism, what it means to be a police official, and is an example of 
what a professional police officer is, and lives that ethos, and uses the code of conduct as a 
guide and expects everybody around them, their own managers, to do that.  
 So that would be the first act. 
 The thing would then be to then explain that to the community, so they know what to 
expect from you.  Put the code of conduct on your Client Service Centre, take it to CPF 
meetings, ask the community if they think that the police officials are adhering to those 
principles, and if they’re not, then set up systems – in Hillbrow in 2003, I think it was, the 
Station Commander there did these things, set up a specific office with dedicated capacity to 
take complaints against the police in that precinct.  

So they don’t go to the Client Service Centre; they go to another office and there’s a 
commissioned officer sitting there who does it, and that makes sure that you record everything. 
That officer’s not about making judgments;  just take the complaint down, hand it over to the 
various components, and then they investigate so that the community starts seeing that you 
can complain, it’s easy, it’s non-threatening, and there will be follow-up.  

That’s how you start trying to do two things, recognising, award and promote positive 
ethos in policing, on one hand, but also increasing accountability for those that are not 
adhering to those principles. 
MR BISHOP:  Do you think that it’s also necessary to have a separate, independent anti-



corruption unit within the police? 
MR NEWHAM:  Yes. I think it is important. We did have such a unit for five years, and it 
reported – it was a national unit and had about 250 people across the country, Provincial and 
national officers.  Their arrests from police went from about 2 500, I think, in the first year of 
operation, 1996, and by 2001 I think they’d made about – well over 6 000 arrests.  
 Even their conviction rates were quite low, but growing. And I was working in Hillbrow 
Police Station at a time when they were quite active, and a lot of police officials would admit to 
me that they were not taking as many opportunities as they had in the past because they had 
suddenly seen colleagues in uniform being handcuffed and arrested and taken to the local 
office of the anti-corruption unit, sometimes for taking bribes of R10,00 and losing their jobs 
and – so it had a very strong deterrent effect.  
 So if it’s properly structured, it’s well resourced, it has independent officers and is 
allowed to do the job unhindered and reports directly to senior management after the fact, so 
that it can be known to do its investigations. And where there are allegations of abuse against 
that unit, then you can bring the Independent Police Investigative Directorate, or the Hawks, to 
investigate the allegations.  You can have a ballad system which can have quite a strong 
impact in the sense of getting away with it in the police. 
MR BISHOP:  Commissioner, I just wanted to check how much time – I wasn’t sure how much 
time I have. 
COMMISSIONER:  You’ve still got about five minutes. 
MR BISHOP:  Okay. Thank you, Commissioner.  
 Do you think that at the moment within SAPS that there’s the political world to tackle the 
problem of abuse, criminality and corruption? 
MR NEWHAM:  I think that there is certainly a recognition that there is a problem, and I think 
there’s a certain level of will to do so.   

You know, it is – talking about corruption is the first step, acknowledging. I mean, when 
you see a Minister saying we have a problem of tsotsi cops, or we, you know, never tire of 
removing rotten potatoes, and that kind of thing – I mean, that’s an important first step, 
because in many police agencies around the world there’s just complete denial.  

I mean, if you look at the New York City Police Department, it’s had five major 
corruptions scandals since the turn of the century in 1900 – sort of 1906 was their first major 
documented and they’ve had almost every 20 years another one. 
 But the main sort-of issues are that the police usually just refuse to acknowledge the 
problem.  They just, no, no, it’s just one or two cops, a bad apple completely. 
 So they don’t acknowledge it’s a generalised problem;  they just say, there’s no 
problem, it’s those individuals and once we’ve moved them out – so when you start hearing 
this notion of, okay, there’s a problem, when you adapt a national anti-corruption strategy, it 
suggests that there is a recognition. Whether there’s the willingness to go and really put in 
place the structure that you need to put in place, is often tempered by the kind of disruption 
you think you might cause in the police, because one of the most – one of the nastiest 
unintended consequences of many anti-corruption campaign is that sometimes your best 
performing, most heroic police officials are netted at high levels and suddenly people who were 
seen as the beacon of being a good cop are arrested, and they don’t always go quietly. 
 So you can cause a lot of disruption. So sometimes what happens is, there’s initial 
acknowledgement of the problem, they start looking into it, they suddenly realise that it’s a bit 
too big to deal with, and then they back off.   



What you should be doing at that stage is then breaking it down and saying, if it’s a 
whole agency working in a city or country, then you start working in certain areas and you do it 
slowly over time. You don’t try and just suddenly go full force, the whole lot.  But you’ve got to 
start doing it somewhere.  
MR BISHOP:  And as I understand it in New York and also in the UK, they had large 
commissions of enquiry into corruption and abuse within the police and that those spurred 
certain reforms.  And do you think that would also be helpful, something like that, in the South 
African context? 
MR NEWHAM:  It could be, except that we also have the Jali Commission of Enquiry as a 
precedent, which took four years and came up with an incredible amount of information about 
the systemic nature of corruption in the Correctional Services.  
 And depending on how you look at it, was successful and not successful enough. It 
certainly, I think, led to a few hundred officials being dismissed and there were certain 
changes, but, you know, from what we know, there’s still a problem of corruption in the 
Correctional Services.  
 So I’m not sure that you necessarily need this massive commission to sit for four years 
to do that. I think you could probably – we know enough to sort-of, if the Rights people were 
given the right amount of support, and the top of the organisation said, look, you know, look at 
the best international models, look at what’s possible given our resources, have a clear plain of 
action.  And it’s often just starting with sensitising it.   

You don’t suddenly start arresting cops, because you want to give people an 
opportunity to stop doing it. 
 There’s a lot of corruption, especially at local levels amongst lower ranks.  It’s quite 
opportunistic. It’s not cops necessarily looking for money, but if it happens, it happens, and it’s 
a bonus.  
 But when you don’t deal with that situation, then certain individuals start becoming, and 
the great phrase in the literature is, “moving from grass eaters to meat eaters”. They actually 
start running the syndicates, and they start looking at how to actively prey to make money. 
 And that’s the natural egression of not dealing with the petty corruption. And, as those 
people who are meat eaters start getting promoted, because they’d (indistinct) of hiding their 
activities, then you have this phenomenon going up the organisation and it becomes incredibly 
difficult to move.  
 So typically you want to start at the top, you know, sweep the stair case from the top 
stairs downwards.  
MR BISHOP:  Moving to the issue of complaints, I understood from your evidence that there’s 
clearly a problem with sort-of the number of complaints that lead to a guilty verdict, that go to 
IPID, the very, very small percentage get there. I mean, it was 5% of the ones who were 
referred to the (indistinct). And in my calculation, it’s 0.01% of the complaints that are lodged, 
169 of 11 000-odd. And I understand that that‘s a, you know, you showed the trend of that 
problem.  
 But I don’t really understand if you’ve got a sense of what the explanation for that is.  
MR NEWHAM:  That is something that – sorry, an explanation for ...? 
MR BISHOP:  Why there’s such a low conviction rate and such a high finding of not guilty for 
complaints that are sent to IPID.  
MR NEWHAM:  It’s probably a number of factors, and there hasn’t been the kind of research to 
let us know exactly why, but the kinds of reasons why that might be the case is that the police, 



when they are breaking the law, are usually doing it knowingly and are also aware of the 
evidentiary requirements and how to do it in such a way that there’s as little external evidence 
of it as possible.  
 So if it’s a group of police officials and they steal from one person, and that person 
complains, then they’ve got one statement saying I had three police officials steal my 
cellphone, or whatever, and you’ve got three statements saying no, we didn’t. And there’s no 
other evidence.  
 So that’s kind-of a lot of reasons why these cases are found to be unsubstantiated.  
There’s just not enough evidence to prosecute them. 
 And then there’s a range of other dynamics.  If you go as far as actually investigating, 
making yourself available, knowing how to interfere with a case, cover your tracks, identity who 
the victims are, sometimes intimidating the complainants, because you know who they are – a 
whole lot of factors in that, then into the actual dynamics of prosecuting police officials where 
there might be – you don’t necessary put your best, most aggressive prosecutors on police 
criminal cases, because they might be seen as one agency taking a vendetta against the 
other, so there’s – there could be those kind of dynamics.  
 As I say, until we have a proper study in South Africa, these are just reasons I picked up 
from other literature. 
MR BISHOP:  Just two more questions.  The Police Advisory Commission that you refer to, is 
that report available? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, it was publicly – it was still disseminated.  It went to the media. We 
received it from various sources. 
MR BISHOP:  Do you have a copy of it? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. 
MR BISHOP:  Could you provide us with a copy? 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. It’s not classified.  It’s been reported on at the time, and – ja. It’s not – you 
know, it’s kind-of a lot like the Tshabalala report in some ways. It’s just not as detailed because 
it doesn’t identify police stations. It talks about themes and issues.  
COMMISSIONER:  It’s actually before the Commissioner, and we could put it into the bundle. 
Could we – Ms Dissel, could we put those, the Advisory Committee Reports from 2006 and 
2007 or 2007/2008 into bundle 12 or not? 
MS DISSEL:  (inaudible). 
COMMISSIONER:  Sorry? 
MS DISSEL:  (inaudible). 
COMMISSIONER:  They were sent to us.  We asked (intervention). 
MR BISHOP:  Police Advisory Commission Reports.  
COMMISSIONER:  And he sent them to us. So we could put them into bundle 13 if we haven’t 
done so already. 
MR BISHOP:  The last question – the NDP, and we understand that it’s been approved by 
Cabinet, but with regard to the recommendations in that concerning SAPS – firstly, did SAPS 
have any role in formulating those recommendations, or were they done entirely by the 
Presidency, and what – do you know if SAPS has had any reaction to those 
recommendations? Have they welcomed them, disapproved of them, been silent? 
MR NEWHAM:  I assume that the Planning Commission did engage with SAPS, because they 
certainly engaged with civil society.  We were invited to a number of workshops to talk about 
crime and policing and a whole range of issues.  



 So I’m assuming that they would have engaged with the Government Departments who 
were responsible for dealing with this.  I don’t know – the police haven’t issued any statement 
to say one way or another whether they support these recommendations or not.   

So I am not really sure what the formal position is about, whether they support this or 
not.  
MR BISHOP:  Thank you, Commissioner. No further questions. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR BISHOP 
COMMISSIONER:  Thank you, Mr Bishop.  Mr Arendse? 
MR ARENDSE:  Thank you. 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE: 
 Mr Newham, just on the crime stats and your statement that the wrong statistical 
approach had been used by SAPS, I’m not going to engage on that because thankfully I don’t 
have any instructions and I’m not here to represent the Minister or the National Commissioner.  
 But I think we know anecdotally you had an exchange with them quite publicly on the 
radio and in other media, and I’m going to leave it there. 
 I just wanted to ask you, Mr de Kock yesterday – and I don’t see it being mentioned, 
unless I missed it, on those pages where you deal with the importance of sharing crime stats 
from page 33 of your report. You don’t mention that at one stage there was also the quarterly 
release of statistics which he testified to. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. I don’t mention it.  
MR ARENDSE:  Well, was there or wasn’t there? 
MR NEWHAM:  As far as I know, there was. But it was quite a while back, apparently. It wasn’t 
when I was focusing on crime stats, which has mainly been the last – since about 2006.  
MR ARENDSE:  Because – well then now I don’t know, because he mentioned that at one – I 
forget the periods that he mentioned (Intervention). 
COMMISSIONER:  I think it was about the lat ‘90s. It was before the moratorium, as I 
understand it. Then the – before moratorium, then they had the Orkin Report, then the Orkin 
Report resulted in the monthly stats, then we had the moratorium, and then around about 2001 
or 2002 we ended up with the – the erratic publication by Mr Tshwete, and then followed by 
annual ones from September in about 2005. 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja. That’s pretty much how I understand it. 
COMMISSIONER:  So it’s going a long way. I think it was (intervention). 
MR ARENDSE:  Well, I – I … 
COMMISSIONER:  The Minister Mufamadi period. 
MR ARENDSE:  I recall him mentioning along the lines that Mr Newham had recorded in his 
report on page 34, he referred to Orkin, that was ’98, then the late Mr Tshwete placed a 
moratorium, and subsequently there was Mr Nqakula who took over from him. And then in that 
intervening period he mentioned that there was a quarterly release of crime stats with 
motivation which he tends to favour.  
MR NEWHAM:  I’m only aware of crime stats being released quarterly, as I say, I’m not sure 
what the years were, but quite a while back. I don’t know – I mean he did tell me that they 
released them quarterly. I have spoken to him about this but as far as I understood it was quite 
a while back, not so recently. 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja. 
MR NEWHAM:  Certainly not since I’ve been working with crime stats, which was in 2006 
onwards. 



MR ARENDSE:  Okay. 
MR PIKOLI:  If I’m not mistaken, it was during the time of Mr Mufamadi, in ’94 to about ’99. 
MR ARENDSE:  The reference to Mr Mufamadi is on page 34 of your report, paragraph 3.  He 
says: 

“During the time when Nelson Mandela was the President, his Minister of Safety 
and Security, Sydney Mufamadi, appointed a committee of enquiry to investigate 
the collection, processing, analysis and dissemination of crime statistics. The 
Committee was headed by Dr Mark Orkin, who was the head of the then Central 
Statistical Services, and consisted of local and international experts including 
police and civilians. Their recommendations, which were released by Mufamadi 
on 31 March ’98 largely implemented leading to the sophisticated crime analysis 
system that is in use today. 
And important recommendation with regards to the dissemination of crime 
statistics was that the crime statistics be released monthly, and that the National 
and Provincial Secretariats of Police must assist communities to access, 
understand and use Provincial Secretariats to assist and understand …” 

 And so on.  Then he says: 
“This resulted in the crime stats being released monthly until the Minister, then 
Steve Tshwete, placed the moratorium.” 

 So that’s up until that point. That’s what I was asking about. That seemed to have been 
a golden period under Mufamadi and Orkin when these were released monthly. That’s why I 
asked you, because then he goes on to say – he refers to Nqakula and then afterwards there 
seems to be a moratorium and then an annual decision to release only annually. 
 There’s a gap there that I was asking about, where there was a quarterly release, 
according to de Kock. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. He would have known, because he was there, but I got that information 
from him, so – when I wrote that article I just used what he told me. But I didn’t – I wasn’t 
around, so I don’t have any firsthand experience of it. 
COMMISSIONER:  Mr Arendse, I’m fairly sure that the quarterly happened before the Orkin 
report, the quarterly, and then the Orkin report, and then we went into the crime moratorium.  I 
think it’s both Advocate Pikoli and my recollection. 
MR ARENDSE:  So that before 1998? 
COMMISSIONER:  Yes.  
MR ARENDSE:  Is that before you were born? 
COMMISSIONER:  I wish! 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja, I’m not so sure about it, but we’ll leave it there. 
 It seems to me from your report and from your evidence today that you don’t take issue 
with the fact that our Government does take crime seriously, and that’s demonstrated or 
evidenced in a number of ways, the increased budget, the allocation of resources, the increase 
in posts. 
 Your issue seems to be with the – how you do it and what you do about it, and you also 
seem to say that further increases in posts is not necessarily going to help resolve the 
difficulties that are highlighted in this Commission and which also appeared to be the case in 
other parts of the country. Is that right? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, talking broadly, yes.  
MR ARENDSE:  Okay. 



MR NEWHAM:  Not necessarily about Khayelitsha. 
MR ARENDSE:  Now, to the extent that Cabinet has adopted the NDP a while ago, and to the 
extent that just in recent days that the ruling party and the President, who presumably will be 
the President also for the next term, have again committed to the NDP.  I can’t take issue with 
you on that, obviously, and hopefully those recommendations will now be implemented. 
 So to that extent I’m not going to engage with you. 
 But just on perhaps – and I’m – it’s just for your comment – it seems to me, just 
standing outside and looking at how things have evolved in our country politically over the last 
couple of years, there was clearly a contestation about the NDP. You know about that? I 
mean, it’s common cause. 
MR NEWHAM:  Mostly, as far as I understand, on the economic recommendations. 
MR ARENDSE:  Yes. On those. So I’m not sure whether the police, the recommendations with 
regard to the police was also sort-of a casualty of that kind of a paralysis. It might be. But 
hopefully now that the new Government has got a mandate from the overwhelming majority of 
our people that this is the plan they must implement, hopefully it will happen. 
MR NEWHAM:  Hopefully, and that’s what we all hope, definitely. 
MR ARENDSE:  I’m not going to be popular with my COSATU comrades and people on the 
left, but anyway, that seems to be the message that has now come across;  just go ahead and 
do it. 
 You touched on the – some of the evidence on corruption here before the Commission, 
and you would accept that it’s, as the Commissioner Presiding had herself expressed the view 
that it’s surprising it’s a relatively little or no corruption that takes place in – certainly not – 
certainly on what’s been reported here in Khayelitsha.   
 But has that indicated the problem is somehow masked in some way, or they’re  training 
– the police in Khayelitsha are just so good at it that, you know, they’re just not being 
detected? 
MR NEWHAM:  I would have no way of knowing. 
MR ARENDSE:  Okay. 
MR NEWHAM:  All I do know is that it’s generally accepted that you can’t – that the number of 
cases reported and dealt with in the formal systems is usually not everything that’s taking 
place. The actual scale problem is very difficult to measure, and in fact probably impossible to 
measure  because the people involved have no desire to really tell anybody. 
MR ARENDSE:  Ja. 
MR NEWHAM:  So you can’t ever say how big the problem is. 
MR ARENDSE:  Because I – and I’m not going – it’s before the Commission.  My colleague, 
Advocate Masuku, took issue with Ms Grobler this morning when she also testified on the 
whole issue of corruption in relation to Khayelitsha. 
 I think the other thing that everyone has acknowledged, quite rightly, in this Commission 
is that what the police is good at, the Inspectorate component, is actually identifying problems. 
But the problems that you are helping us address here, and other experts, is how to fix those 
problems.  
 Now, is that – does that link to this culture of impunity that you talk about, that, oh well, 
they can come again next year. The same problems and the same problems, and also linked 
to that – and I don’t know what the answer is, but you know that the bureaucracy called South 
African Police Service and other Departments is also a hotly, highly contested Trade Union 
ground and disciplinaries;  they take long and sometimes witnesses disappear or they die or 



they just no longer have any appetite to give evidence against people. And then eventually 
people get off. 
 Is that part of that culture problem that you referred to? 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, it – not necessarily. Those are aspects of all criminal or disciplinary 
procedures in all organisations, so it’s more about, I suppose, saying, well, we need to do 
something about this, and the current systems are not working as effectively as they should. 
Let’s engage the Unions, let’s strengthen, let’s do a study. 
 So the culture might be one of not doing that, letting it carry on, because for a variety of 
reasons people are busy, who’s going to take the lead – that’s more really the culture dynamic, 
I believe. 
MR ARENDSE:  Because we also heard evidence here, you know, that some of the – 
especially from the Detective Commanders, that they would rather counsel a colleague, 
knowing that they’ve got – they’re overloaded with dockets, knowing the problems that the 
police face here in Khayelitsha, the difficulties – they would rather counsel and discipline, in 
inverted commas, a colleague, something lower than – and then not refer the matter to head 
office, where it becomes a formal hearing and it goes into the process.  
 And for them, you know, more often than not, that works. 
MR NEWHAM:  Well, first of all, I think the disciplinary code says you counsel first. Certainly 
for less serious – you know. I mean, I think one of the challenges (intervention). 
MR ARENDSE:  But they have a discretion.  They must identify whether it’s a lesser or a 
serious – and then refer it. So they prefer to deal with it in a lesser, and of course we know 
warnings lapse after six months.  
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. That is definitely my experience, is that most Commanders would rather do 
the counselling thing, and if there’s a reluctance to really use discipline unless – the 
counselling’s not working. 
MR ARENDSE:  Just dealing with what Ms Bawa put to you about the task team report. The 
evidence that Brigadier van Zyl who was a member, a key member of that team, was that this 
did not constitute a Standing Order 6 report. It was a first phase report and it was then handed 
to the late Lt General Tshabalala.   
 And subsequent to that, according to his evidence, the National Commissioner was then 
going to move on to phase 2, to set up another task team.   And in fact the evidence which is in 
the High Court papers was that the National Commissioner had then recommended to the 
Premier a task team which would also include members of civil society, with the terms of 
reference and so on, and that is how the report was going to be – so that appears to be the 
reason or the justification why the report was never actually given to the Station Commanders. 
 Do you know anything about that, or can you comment? 
MR NEWHAM:  No, I don’t know that level of detail about what happened there. 
MR ARENDSE:  Since the passing of the Secretariat Act in 2011, so we’ve had approximately 
now almost two years where the Act itself has been in its implementation phase do you see the 
institution and the bodies that’s provided for in that Act, especially in relation to oversight – do 
you see the Secretariat playing a much bigger role when it comes to oversight? Are they able 
to play a role where they’re fairly independent and neutral? 
MR NEWHAM:  They’ve certainly grown in size.  There’s been a lot of recruitment of new staff, 
so each of the components of that Secretariat’s definitely got more bodies in it.  They’re doing 
a lot more work, so we’ve seen various policies, public order policing and that being 
developed. They’ve developed a Green Paper, and are now developing a White Paper on 



policing, so there’s definitely been a lot more work, and I think they are independent. I don’t 
doubt that they’re independent.  

I think that they still have some way to go before we could say that that’s influencing 
what the police do, or is being used – or the work that they do has an influence. But they 
certainly are doing more work, and they are independent, from my experience, yes. 
MR ARENDSE:  Just to come back to the crime stats, would it also then be your evidence that, 
given on your report and on your evidence that the wrong statistic approach was used, that the 
figures that we see in Khayelitsha would – you would put them higher than what they are 
officially?  Because you don’t – and that’s just my point – you don’t in your report obviously 
sort-of extrapolate it, or bring it down to Khayelitsha three station level.  
MR NEWHAM:  No, I don’t. I only – we only analyse them nationally and provincially.  It would 
be an interesting exercise to do that, though, and see what the differences were. 
 But as I say, it’s a ratio. It won’t change the actual numbers of crimes. 
COMMISSIONER:  On that as well, presumably there’ll be no difficulty next year. It’s actually a 
transitional issue.  
MR ARENDSE:  Ja. 
COMMISSIONER:  It’s once the census report came out and corrected the estimate that had 
gone before. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. I would imagine that next year they’ll – because they’ve started using the 
updated census starter for 2012/’13.  They will then continue the latest census estimates, and 
that will be fine.  
COMMISSIONER:  (inaudible – microphone off) … because – unless you went back and did 
all of them, you know, in some kind of reverse estimate process on those census 2011 figures. 
MR NEWHAM:  But you can do that (intervention). 
COMMISSIONER:  We’re always going to have a break. 
MR NEWHAM:  Ja. But you should do that, and you can do that. It’s not onerous.  But certainly 
if you’re going to present crime ratios publicly for Parliament, you make sure that they’re 
accurate. 
MR ARENDSE:  Thank you. I’ve got no further questions. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 
COMMISSIONER:  Thanks, Mr Arendse.  Ms Bawa, anything in re-examination? 
RE-EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA:   

I have two – two issues that I want to ask whether you think it’s a good 
recommendation.  The approach taken by the GIP in Gauteng, whether that is something you 
would recommend be explored here. 
MR NEWHAM:  Yes, I would. I think that it certainly provides or enables the Provincial 
Government to exercise its Constitutional mandate more fully. It allows the Provincial 
Government to get a better sense of how it can work better with the police and where it can 
mobilise its resources provincially across different Departments to assist in dealing with the 
challenges facing the police, because you have a regular discussion of the statistics and police 
information. 

So it has a number of what I think were quite – certainly were our experience in 
Gauteng, benefits.  Initially the police are resistant to it, because they think it’s going to be 
used as a stick to hit them with, so they kind-of have this idea of oversight being a – you know, 
the MEC coming down hard and just being difficult. But if it’s approached as a joint – as a way 
of solving the crime policing challenges of the Province between the two agencies, it can have 



quite a positive outcome. 
MS BAWA:  And my second question was that I had forgotten to ask you – are you familiar 
with the CIVOCs? 
MR NEWHAM:  CIVOCs? 
MS BAWA:  It’s a civilian oversight body created under the SAPS Act, which exercise oversight 
over the Metro Police and the City of Cape Town. 
MR NEWHAM:  No, I’m not – not aware of it. 
MS BAWA:  Okay. Thank you. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 
COMMISSIONER:  (inaudible – microphone off). Thank you very much indeed, Mr Newham, 
for a very long and interesting afternoon, and for the reports that you provided for us and the 
various documentation. We’re very grateful to you. 
MR NEWHAM:  Thank you 
COMMISSIONER:  You may now stand down. Thank you. 
MR NEWHAM:  Thanks very much. 

 


